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Financial Year Highlights

Revenue of £13.4 million (2012: £12.1 million) 

Adjusted EBITDA¹ £12.3 million (2012: £2.7million) 

Profit after tax of £6.5 million (2012: loss of £1.8 million) 

Sale of 16MW of wind farms for net profit of £9.1 million 

Cash and cash equivalents of £16.1 million (2012: £9.6 

million) 

Proposal to pay final dividend of 1.5p per Ordinary Share 

(2012: 1.5p) 

Total dividend for the year maintained at 2.0p (2012: 2.0p)

Operational Highlights

Construction of South Sharpley (6MW), Orchard End 

(4MW) and Burnthouse Farm (6MW) wind farms 

Planning permission granted for St Breock (10MW), 

Ramsey II (8MW) and Burnthouse Farm (6MW) wind 

farms 

66MW of new planning applications made, with 135MW 

now awaiting determination 

Long term strategic partnership established with a fund 

managed by BlackRock, with the sale of two newly built 

wind farms at Sancton Hill (10MW) and South Sharpley 

(6MW) for a total enterprise value of £32.1m

Agreement of a long term Asset Management 

Agreement

An Asset Investment Agreement (“AIA”) which provides 

a framework for future co-operation between REG and 

BlackRock

Bunrnthouse Farm - Cambridgshire
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Chairman’s Statement

will replace, the Renewables Obligation, were broadly 
welcomed with proposed “strike prices” under the 
Contracts for Difference mechanism for wind and solar 
energy in particular regarded as acceptable for investors 
and energy users.

The UK government’s current ambition for onshore wind 
installed capacity is 10-13GW. Of this some 7GW is 
operating or under construction. Its expectation for solar 
PV is up to 20GW by 2020 of which 3GW is currently 
operating.

Relevance

REG remains well positioned to benefit from its strategy 
to focus on the domestic renewable energy market, a 
strategy it determined four years ago, since successfully 
selling its Canadian wind business.  Since then it has 
committed over £100m in new renewable energy projects 
in the UK.

Our primary objective remains to build, own and operate a 
sizeable pool of renewable energy assets benefitting from 
the UK’s stable incentives and strengthening power prices. 
It is difficult to predict policy beyond the medium-term but 
your Board believes that investment opportunities in the 
UK will remain attractive for onshore wind throughout the 
next decade, with debt-laden large utilities divesting of 
small to medium projects which we have shown we can 
profitably build or re-power. This, together with the UK’s 
continuing commitment to “grandfather rights” to long-
term tariffs and our shared view of higher UK wholesale 
power prices, has led us to accelerate our development 
rate - strengthening our development team with the aim of 
submitting  more than 100MW of fully developed projects 
annually into the Planning system. In the past year we 
have submitted 66MW of such projects bringing our total 
awaiting determination to 140MW.  Despite relentlessly 
increasing complexities in the UK’s consenting regime 
we are confident that our high success rate on initial or 
appealed applications will continue.

The acceleration of our build rate will depend on some 
recycling of capital from operational sites back into 
new projects.  This strategy will avoid us diluting value 
for existing shareholders or taking on excessive debt. 
The recent influx of financial buyers seeking lower risk, 
lower value transactions with predictable cash flows has 
enhanced the value of operating  wind projects and our 
agreement reached this year with the world’s largest fund 
manager BlackRock is an important part of this strategy.   
To date, REG has sold three operational wind projects to 
BlackRock totalling 28MW and a fourth is due to follow 
later this year. The agreement also accommodates a long 
term Asset Management Agreement under which REG 
will continue to administer sold projects. This predictable 
earnings stream from this new business should start to 
contribute strongly to revenues over the next few years.

Encouraged by mandatory reporting of greenhouse gas 
emissions we anticipate continuing growth in the trend 
of major corporates contracting directly with renewable 
generators, offering attractive alternatives to the big 
utilities’ power purchasing terms.

Exploiting Synergies and Parallels

The nature of wind energy generation is creating a 
lucrative market for ancillary services. We have long 
anticipated the electricity grid system’s need for back-up 
plant capable of fast and economic generation scheduling 
to meet hourly, daily and seasonal variations in electricity 
supply and demand. REG Bio-Power has had early 
success with the few power plants it has operated within 
National Grid Company’s short term operating reserve 
(STOR) programme in which REG has the competitive 
advantage of ROCs. It has substantially expanded its 
nationwide oil collection network and secured good depth 
and tenor of Used Cooking Oil supplies. With several 
consented power projects available to build quickly we are 
poised to substantially increase our 8MW fleet when the 
anticipated opportunities in the STOR and wider capacity 
market become firmer.

Similarly there are synergies between the seasonal 
production patterns of solar PV plants and wind, which 
mirror each other thus offering opportunities where 
ground-mounted solar schemes can share land, grid 
connections and other infrastructure with wind projects. 
The government’s recent launch of ROC schemes for 
large solar projects together with the continuing decline 
of solar PV’s capital costs has led us to develop schemes 
which can be accommodated on our wind sites and we 
have begun procurement for our first consented project at 
Goonhilly Downs which will complete before next April to 
qualify for 1.6 ROCs/MWh.

We believe there are opportunities in parallel markets 
within and around the British Isles. With improved cross-
border grid capacity and enhanced policy support, the 
Irish and Scottish markets look relevant to our future-
proofing aims. Our joint venture in Northern Ireland 
expects to build a 6MW wind plant in 2014 and the UK’s 
recent memorandum of understanding to source some of 
its renewable energy requirements from the Republic of 
Ireland is of interest.

Outlook

We believe that accelerating the build-out of our 
substantial pipeline of projects whilst the UK faces 
shortfalls in its electricity supplies and renewable energy 
obligations, serves shareholders and society alike. By 
continuing our recent policy to dispose of some assets 
to fund construction equity we will inevitably impact 
earnings but by 2020 we expect to have a sizeable pool of 
strongly cash-generative assets which will provide flexibility 
as we contemplate how best to deliver value to all our 
shareholders at the end of what must necessarily be a 
highly dynamic chapter in the UK energy story.

 

M J Liston OBE 
Chairman 
15 October 2013

Global Context

Investment in renewable energy reached the second-
highest level ever over the last year, albeit down from the 
previous 12 months.  Investor uncertainty over policy 
support in renewable energy’s longest-established 
markets in Southern Europe and the US was behind 
the year-on-year drop but investment remained 8% up 
compared to 2010.

Within this global picture renewable energy investment 
in developing countries rose by 19% to its highest ever, 
with China overtaking the US to top the league. For 
the main renewable technologies of Wind and Solar 
PV, technological advance and industry restructuring in 
over-supplied markets has helped the robust rally in clean 
energy stock prices; up by more than a quarter in the past 
year.

Closer to Home

Inevitably the credit crisis and recession have propelled 
public finances above energy and environmental 
sustainability in the political agenda and with energy 
affordability already becoming an election issue the 
paralysis which has persistently afflicted UK energy policy 
looks set to result in a security of supplies crisis during 
the current decade. The retirement in coming years of 
one quarter of the UK’s existing nuclear and coal-fired 
power generating capacity is creating an unprecedented 
challenge for the power industry. The energy regulator 
OFGEM has warned again that a record low margin of 
electricity generating capacity, forecast now to be only 2% 
to 5% above demand by 2015, risks power shortages. 
It has called for rapid progress in the development of 
a capacity market, both to incentivise the availability of 
Megawatts to help meet winter power demand and to 
help manage  increased variability of supply resulting from 
the substantial amount of renewable generation coming 
on line at near-zero marginal cost. Capacity payments 
are either present or pending in all five of Europe’s largest 
economies.

Futures markets are already pricing in increased wholesale 
power prices in the UK and investors are increasingly keen 
to have direct exposure to them rather than through longer 
term Power Purchase Agreements. 

The public debate on energy affordability has been 
distorted by misinformation most of this has focused 
on what is in fact been the minor impact of renewable 
energy policies, compared with the dominant cost of 
imported gas. Shale gas has been hailed as the means to 
dramatically reduce energy prices in the UK as it has in the 
US. However recent energy industry analysis has warned 
that for geological, infrastructure and societal reasons it is 
unlikely that UK deposits could be extracted for less than 
twice the cost of those in the US, nor for substantially less 
than the current European and thus UK gas market price. 

The government’s draft Energy Bill aims to attract more 
than £100bn investment needed to restore adequate 
power system capacity by 2020 largely by building new 
nuclear power stations, onshore and offshore wind 
projects and gas-fired and biomass plants. Recent 
proposals for the level of price support for new plant, 
which from 2014 will be an alternative to, and from 2017 
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reasonable value to the taxpayer. However, reasonable 
value does not mean electricity prices will fall; rather they 
will rise over the next few years as the cost of building the 
new plant falls on energy consumers. The expectation 
of the Department of Energy and Climate Change is that 
electricity prices will not rise as fast as they otherwise 
would have done if the new plant had not been built. 
It is also worth remembering that previous generations 
of UK energy infrastructure tended to be funded from 
general taxation and were not, therefore, “perceived” by 
electricity consumers. Now the burden falls foursquare on 
consumers through domestic energy bills, obviously a very 
real and vocal issue in an era of falling real incomes.  

So where does all this leave REG? Onshore wind is 
relatively inexpensive, certainly in the context of nuclear 
power and offshore wind and the technology, being 
mature, ideally complements REG’s balance sheet and 
acquired skill sets. It also generates a reasonable value 
uplift between acquiring rights over a potential site 
and the eventual commissioning of a wind farm. Whilst 
complex to calculate, a wind farm in a good location 
can provide a satisfactory, albeit hard-earned, developer 
profit, analogous perhaps with the value uplift available 
on a new house or commercial property. Alternatively it 
can provide a long-term income stream, the reason why 
institutional investors are keen to acquire these projects, 
as demonstrated by the sale of three REG wind farms to 
a fund managed by BlackRock and establishment of a 
continuing partnership during the period. 

The main barrier faced by the wind industry in the UK 
is our notoriously protracted planning regime and the 
not inconsiderable costs of achieving a permission to 
construct a wind farm. Quite clearly the planning process 
for a wind farm must be comprehensive given a project’s 
interaction with its immediate environs. Much of our focus 
centres on juggling the many planning and grid issues and 
associated costs whilst attempting to calculate investor 
return. Compounding this is the ever moving cost of 
turbines (affected significantly by currency) and associated 
balance of plant. In the round, therefore, producing a 
successful and value accretive wind project is the result of 
an interaction of many different and ever moving variables. 

There is no doubt that REG has a demonstrable ability 
to forecast and optimise the economic return on its wind 
projects and there is also no doubt that many others in 
the sector are, in the face of increasing Government and 
planning hostility coupled to a reduction in the Renewables 
Obligation support mechanism, finding life and business 
generally much tougher. As a company solely focused 
on renewable technology, this is increasingly presenting 
opportunities to REG as the number of new projects 
available to us has risen markedly over recent months. 
Indeed we find ourselves having to increasingly juggle the 
cost of developing our own projects against the obvious 
benefits of being able to invest in projects that have 
already had considerable time and resource dedicated to 
them by others.

Developing, building and operating our own portfolio of 
home-grown projects is a core competency, leveraged 
for opportunities in the wider renewables market. We 
achieved considerable success in these fields over the last 
year and I will discuss these in more depth below.

The change of focus for our bioliquids business, REG Bio-
Power increasingly provides a clearer path to generating a 
risk adjusted return for this division that matches the return 
on capital delivered by our wind business. This year has 
seen REG Bio-Power continue to participate successfully 
in both National Grid’s STOR and the peaking markets. 
Furthermore, EMR and the anticipated introduction of a 
capacity market provide enticing opportunities for flexible, 
non-polluting plant owned by REG Bio-Power.

Since REG built its first UK wind project back in 2006 
we have vigorously placed community benefits at the 
heart of our development strategy. This has led to our 
projects establishing community based funds which now 
make significant payments to local causes and fosters 
greater goodwill than would otherwise by the case. These 
schemes are generally administered by trustees with the 
focus of donation into local projects. I am pleased to say 
that these schemes last year contributed over £300,000 
and for the first time we have included a section in the 
Report and Accounts on some of the specific initiatives 
that REG projects have funded.

Looking to the future we have articulated a clear growth 
strategy to investors. Our now well established relationship 
with BlackRock provides a willing buyer for our larger wind 
projects while REG intends to retain its smaller projects 
to build up recurring profitability. A good example of this 
is our recently operational project at Burnthouse Farm 
in Cambridgeshire which is equity financed (i.e. without 
recourse to long term project finance). We believe this 
ownership structure affords us greater flexibility in selling 
the energy produced by these projects. 

Strategic Overview and Review of the Year

When we sold our Canadian business at the end of 2009, 
we set a strategy to commit at least £100m into new 
UK renewable energy projects over the next three years. 
We have successfully achieved this goal and in doing so 
have established a strong platform to continue growing 
shareholder value within the business. In this report I will 
review the last 12 months, set out our plans to continue 
our growth strategy and consider some of the risks that 
we face.  

The UK energy sector is embarking upon an important 
long-term journey intended to replace much of the 
country’s existing and ageing fossil fuel generation with a 
new fleet of nuclear, gas and renewable plants augmented 
gradually by more nascent energy technologies such as 
tidal stream and wave. These technologies will not only 
replace the UK’s old coal burning power stations but also 
our fleet of ageing advanced gas cooled nuclear reactors, 
built mainly during the 1970s and 80s. The investment 
programme will also renew much of the UK’s older 
distribution and transmission network which, starved of 
investment, is ill-suited to a distributed generation model.  
The Government estimates the cost of the programme to 
be in the region of £110bn over the next decade or so. 

The introduction of the Energy Bill and through it the 
Electricity Market Reform (“EMR”) will provide a range 
of technologies with an opportunity to participate in the 
future of the UK generation market. As an island nation the 
UK generates around 98% of its electricity from domestic 
plant and in 2012 the UK had an installed base of around 
89GW of generating capacity, a reduction from around 
91GW in 2010. As the older coal plant in particular shuts 
down over the next five years, OFGEM has warned of a 
possible capacity squeeze whilst the new plant comes 
online.

The new technologies are generally expensive to deploy, 
particularly nuclear energy and offshore wind. To use an 
analogy, the UK generation industry is somewhat like an 
ageing car. Twenty years ago when it was relatively new 
the repayments on the car were onerous but operational 
payments low. Now the finance has been paid off but 
we are left with a rather old and polluting vehicle, albeit 
still relatively cheap to run. If the UK chooses to maintain 
its energy status quo, the old car will inevitably carry on 
polluting, will require larger and larger payments to keep 
it running and will be at risk of breakdown. The car also 
requires fuel sourced primarily from commodity markets 
over which the UK exercises little control. Of course, there 
are benefits from operating our old car, the main one being 
that it is relatively cheap to run (that is unless it breaks 
down!). 

To continue the metaphor, the UK has now decided to 
buy a new car, one that is invariably more expensive 
than the old one. Firstly it will, so far as possible, utilise 
indigenous fuels and it will, so far as possible, emit less 
CO2. This means, returning to the real world, the UK’s 
new generation fleet will comprise a mixture of nuclear 
power stations and offshore wind complemented by rather 
cheaper options such as onshore wind, gas generation 
and biomass conversion (wood pellets). Together this mix 
of technologies is intended to reduce CO2 emissions, 
reduce the UK’s reliance on overseas fuel and provide 
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Wind – Operational Overview of the Year 

REG’s strategy of investing in its development team is 
now delivering significant growth of new projects.  In 
January we announced the establishment of a partnership 
with BlackRock and the sale of two wind farms. The 
relationship with BlackRock gives REG the opportunity 
and flexibility to realise the significant value which has 
been created through developing well-structured wind 
farms and to recycle capital through future asset sales in 
order to accelerate its delivery of operational sites.

Additionally a key component of the relationship is the 
long-term Asset Management Agreement (AMA) under 
which REG’s in-house team will continue, on competitive 
commercial terms, to oversee operations at the wind 
farms. The AMA also gives REG the potential to manage 
other sites acquired by BlackRock from sources other 
than REG’s pipeline. The AMA is proving to be an 
excellent use of the experience within the company and 
an important contributor to our income. We are examining 
whether this resource can be leveraged to external parties.

During the year we completed construction on three new 
projects totalling 16MW at South Sharpley in County 
Durham, Burnthouse Farm in Cambridgeshire and Orchard 
End in Lancashire. South Sharpley has already been 
sold to BlackRock under our existing agreement and it is 
anticipated that Orchard End will be sold later this year. 
This latter project has endured many challenges during 
its construction, exemplifying the considerable expertise 
required in safely constructing, owning and operating a 
complex infrastructure asset. 

At the end of the year we operated 51.15MW of our own 
wind projects having sold Sancton Hill (10MW) and South 
Sharpley (6MW) to BlackRock. Following the sale of the 
Goonhilly Downs wind farm, announced post our year 
end, REG now owns and operates 39.15MW of wind 
projects for its own portfolio which we expect to grow 
dramatically over the coming years. 

I am glad to report that turbine availability remained 
pleasingly high at  97.2% this year, a reflection of the 
ongoing effort we have put into our maintenance and 
service systems and team. Wind conditions were broadly 

at a P50 level and so overall output was broadly on 
budget. 

During 2013/14 we will start construction of two major 
new projects; the repowering of St Breock in Cornwall 
(10MW) and the construction of Ramsey II (8MW) in 
Cambridgeshire. Both projects are currently being 
tendered and we anticipate starting work on St Breock 
over the next few months. We anticipate that both will be 
operational by the end of next calendar year.

Wind – Project Development

Wind development is the key driver of value for REG 
shareholders and is the major area of expenditure for us. 
During the course of the year we achieved our target of 
submitting nine projects totalling approximately 66MW into 
the planning system. In total, we currently have planning 
applications for 140MW awaiting determination. The latest 
submissions included our first two Scottish projects in Fife 
and Dumfries and Galloway. 

We also received planning permission for 24MW of 
new wind projects. Particularly satisfying were the 
repowering of our existing operational project at St 
Breock in Cornwall and a four turbine extension at 
Ramsey, in Cambridgeshire, as these were achieved at 
local authority level, removing the need for an expensive 
appeal to the Planning Inspectorate. Burnthouse Farm, 
also in Cambridgeshire, completes the trio and is now 
operational, a testament to the speed of our experienced 
construction division. Our project at Denzell Downs in 
Cornwall remains the subject of a legal challenge but we 
remain optimistic that this will be freed next year as it is 
palpably in a good location and was approved by Cornwall 
Council’s planning committee in 2011. 

We have committed significant resource to our 
development team in the last two years and this is 
reflected in our ambition in the current year to submit 
around 100MW of new projects into the planning system. 
We are well on the way to achieving this. These projects, 
where much of the capital has already been deployed, 
represent an enormous investment by your Company and, 
all things being equal, should generate a sound return for 
shareholders.  
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Highlights

St Breock
October 2012 

Cornwall County Council’s planning committee resolves to grant permission for 10MW wind farm 

 

Burnthouse Farm 
December 2012 

REG commences construction on 6MW wind farm following discharge of planning conditions.  
Project becomes operational in June 2013. 

 

Sancton Hill and South Sharpley 
January 2013 

REG sells 16MW of wind farms to BlackRock under a new strategic partnership agreement 

 

Ramsey II 
July 2013 

8MW wind farm consented in Cambridgeshire

St Breock - Cornwall Roskrow Barton - Cornwall
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Highlights

STOR Extension
March 2013 – 8MW STOR contract with National Grid extended to April 2015 

 

Arrow Group 
April 2013 – Living Fuels was awarded the East Anglian franchise of the Arrow 
Group’s national waste oil collection business

Operating history
Generation facilities pass 80,000 operational hours without major mechanical 
incident on our Environment Agency approved fuel; LF100.

Hockwold
Processing facility has now handled 10,000,000 litres of waste cooking oil since 
its construction in 2010.

Bio-Power – Operational Overview of the Year 

REG Bio-Power has made pleasing progress this year. 
In April we were awarded the East Anglia franchise 
operated by Arrow Group, a well-established, national 
waste oil collection business with an excellent long-term 
track record. Arrow Group collects around 30,000 tons 
of waste oil per annum and under its umbrella REG 
Bio’s oil collection business has more than doubled its 
processed tonnage to an annual run rate of around 3,500 
tonnes. This, and other initiatives, started to be reflected 
in processed oil volumes which totalled 2.2m litres (1.5m 
litres 2012). It is worth noting that our plant at Hockwold 
has now processed around 10m litres of waste oil since it 
was built in 2010. Our collections from civil amenity sites 
also increased and we now have our collection tanks at 
520 local authority household waste sites around the UK. 

The Environment Agency approved fuel which we recover 
from waste cooking oil is called LF100 and is utilised 
in our power plants at Bentwaters, Leeds North, Dover 
and Hockwold. These generation facilities now have over 
80,000 of operational hours without major mechanical 
incident. We are examining ways to leverage the global 
patents we hold over the process of converting waste 
cooking oil into a fuel. 

We are currently finalising contracts to be able to construct 
a much larger power plant using the experiences gained 
from our existing operations. The site, based in Yorkshire, 
will operate as an 18MW peaking and STOR plant at 
a total capital cost of around £6m, financed partly by 
debt.  We believe that UK power prices may increase 
substantially over coming years, a result of the major 
infrastructure upgrades that are required. We believe that 
owning and operating highly flexible renewable energy 
plant running on recycled waste should prove a valuable 
investment for us.

Bentwaters - Suffolk Hockwold - Norfolk
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Community

The Government’s desire to see wind farm operators 
provide tangible benefits to communities hosting turbines 
has been a strong theme of this year.  This is a logical 
extension of the Localism agenda, now enshrined in law, 
and reflects the need to overcome what has become 
entrenched opposition to the technology in some quarters 
in order to meet the UK’s targets for renewable energy 
deployment.

The historic levels of opposition to wind farm applications 
and the consequent low consenting rate at local 
authority level means much of the emphasis on thorough 
engagement with communities directed by the Localism 
Act was already accepted as good practice by the majority 
of developers. Provision of community payments based 
on the size of the installation had also become standard 
practice. Following a DECC consultation the Government 
raised the recommended level of community benefit 
payments for onshore wind projects to £5,000 per MW 
per annum of installed capacity, up from the previously 
agreed minimum of £1,000 per MW.

We firmly believe that improving relations with local 
communities is an important element in securing the 
longevity of the onshore wind sector and we aim to 
maximise the impact of our community benefit offer. A 
good example can be found in our successful planning 
application at Ramsey in Huntingdonshire this year. By 
identifying local initiatives early in the development process 
we were able to garner sufficient support for the extension 
project, presenting a compelling case to the planning 
committee and achieving local consent. Discussions are 
ongoing with organisations around the country to ensure 
future contributions can deliver as meaningful benefits 
as possible to specific areas, taking into account local 
circumstances, aspirations and priorities.

Across our operating fleet over the period, we have 
committed more than £300,000 to support local 

communities. This has, among a wide range of projects, 
backed the return to use of a previously dilapidated village 
hall in East Yorkshire, the establishment of drugs and 
alcohol awareness sessions in South Yorkshire and sports 
facilities in County Durham. Additional funds are being 
established on more recently consented sites, always 
involving local people in the decision-making process.

Continued contact with local representatives through the 
construction and operational phases of a wind farm also 
yields more harmonious relations than would otherwise 
be the case. Good practice throughout the life of a wind 
farm also inspires local people to act as advocates for 
the technology. This is particularly valuable for reassuring 
residents in areas about the reality of living with turbines 
nearby.

Our Used Cooking Oil collection business Living Fuels 
also recognises the value of working with communities. 
While a less contentious operation, Living Fuels faces 
the challenge of building consumer awareness of the 
availability of facilities for recycling cooking oil.

Charity campaigns in Liverpool, Suffolk and Wiltshire have 
succeeded in boosting the profile of the service in local 
areas as well as raise much-needed funds for worthwhile 
causes. The first saw a donation made to Liverpool’s 
Alder Hey Children’s Hospital, based on the amount of 
oil collected from tanks across Merseyside.  Following 
a sustained media campaign, the charity drive not only 
provided a significant sum to the hospital’s appeal, but 
also resulted in a threefold increase in the amount of oil 
collected.

A follow-up campaign in Wiltshire, working closely with 
the local authority and its contractor, attracted significant 
positive local and regional news coverage. This increased 
awareness led to four times more oil being deposited 
in Living Fuels tanks in the county than in the previous 
quarter and more importantly, a contribution for £1,300 to 
the Wiltshire Air Ambulance Service.

Loscar - South YorkshireGoonhilly - Cornwall
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The Political Environment

The current period has been dominated by the Energy 
Bill and its fitful passage into legislation. We believe EMR 
should have tangible benefits for our business in the 
longer term primarily through offering highly credit worthy 
contracts. That being said we remain disappointed that 
DECC has stubbornly adhered to a 15 year feed in contract 
which does little to lower the overall cost of capital for the 
sector. Indeed it is interesting to note that when REG was 
building projects in Ontario, the Government there actually 
increased the tenor of contracts to 20 years (and in some 
cases 25 years). That is because the ultimate owners of 
energy projects, which will increasingly become pension 
and other institutional funds, require as long a stream of 
income as possible and will fund accordingly. So in essence 
a pension fund will apply a lower discount rate in funding 
a project with a 25 year income stream rather than a 15 
year income stream. Or at least that is the conclusion that 
Canada reached where almost all utility projects are now 
financed by Pension and other funds at very low cost to 
taxpayers there.

Despite this minor disappointment, we are broadly pleased 
with the support that the UK government is committing 
to the UK renewable energy industry.  The Strike Prices 
for renewable technologies are intended to make the UK 
market one of the most attractive for renewable energy 
developers, whilst minimising cost to the hard pressed 
consumer.  We welcome and support these initiatives 
which should add a measure of certainty and help boost 
home-grown sources of clean secure energy. 

Group Financial Highlights

Wind speeds were broadly in line with P50 estimates and 
this resulted in revenues of £13.4m (2012: £12.1m), with 
adjusted EBITDA1 of £12.3m (2012: £2.7m) including the 
profit of sale of the Sancton Hill and South Sharpley wind 
projects of £9.1m.  We recorded a pre tax profit of £5.8m 
(2012: pre tax loss of £2.0m).

Our central administration costs were held in line with 
inflation at £1.7m (2012 - £1.6m).  With the wind 
development business being the key driver of growth 
for the Group, we have committed significant resources 
to our development and construction teams in the last 
year in order to deliver increased MW in to the planning 
system. A corresponding increase has been seen in 
wind administrative expenses to £3.5m (2012 -£2.7m).  
Development costs relating, to early stage evaluation of 
sites along with the impairment of sites withdrawn from 
the pipeline, was kept in line with prior years at £1.4m 
(2012 - £1.4m). Impairment charges relate to site specific 
events that result in projects no longer meeting our 
threshold return requirement.

Growth in the cash flow from operating activities, 
combined with the debt refinancing and subsequent sale 
proceeds of Sancton Hill and South Sharpley, resulted 
in a net increase in cash of £8.0m (2012 – decrease of 
£5.3m) during the year.  We closed the financial year with 
free cash of £16.1m (2012 - £9.6m) along with restricted 
cash held as security against project finance debt and 
construction letters of credit of £8.2m (2012 - £8.6m).

Health and Safety

I believe that REG’s health and safety performance has 
to be our top priority. Making sure that our employees 
work in a safe environment is absolutely critical to the 
credibility and success of our Company. We also operate 
in an environment where members of the public may 
come into close proximity to our projects, both during 
construction and also operation. In this regard we have 
undertaken a major exercise with the leading health and 
safety consultancy ARMSA in order to identify any areas of 
weakness within the Group. As a result we have continued 
to develop our current practices with a particular focus on 
construction and operation. We have also reviewed REG 
Bio’s operational practices, an area of focus given the 
vastly increased oil volumes we are now processing. We 
believe that the current health and safety practices that we 
are employing will continue to maintain a safe environment 
both for our own employees and also the wider public. 

Staff

REG’s employees never fail to inspire, often under very 
trying conditions – not everyone likes wind projects! 
But they ceaselessly carry out their jobs with a cheery 
disposition. Without their efforts REG would not be the 
organisation it is. So thank you.

Post year end activity

Post the year end we completed the sale of the Goonhilly 
Downs wind farm to BlackRock for a total consideration 
of £25.1m releasing around £10.6m of cash back to 
REG and reducing borrowings by £14.5m. These funds, 
together with some of the cash on our balance sheet will 
be utilised for the construction of St Breock, Ramsey and 
a number of other projects that we are hoping to start 
work on during 2014.

Outlook

Your Company remains in sound financial health and by 
the time we have completed the sale of the Orchard End 
wind farm we should have free cash resources of over 
£30m. It should be remembered that we are investing 
a great deal of capital at present both on building our 
two new projects at St Breock and Ramsey, and also on 
meeting our target of submitting around 100MW of new 
projects into planning in the current financial year. The 
main risk for the business continues to be the debate 
over renewables generally and onshore wind in particular. 
However, onshore wind should remain a key component 
of the UK’s energy mix as it is the main, large scale 
and well tried renewable technology able to meet the 
Government’s key ambitions of sustainability, price and 
energy security.

 
Andrew Whalley 
Chief Executive Officer 
15 October 2013

1 Adjusted earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) is equal to the Group’s continuing operating profit/(loss), including profit on disposal of subsidiaries, 
but before share based payments, interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges.
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REG Windpower Locations

Operating Wind Farms
1  Braich Ddu - Gwynedd 
Type: 3 Nordex N60 
Capacity: 3.9MW

2  Burnthouse Farm - Cambridgeshire 
Type: 3 Gamesa G80 
Capacity: 6MW

3  Goonhilly Downs - Cornwall 
Type: 6 Vestas V80  
Capacity: 12MW

4  High Haswell - County Durham 
Type: 2 Vestas V80 
Capacity: 4.0MW

5  High Pow - Cumbria 
Type: 3 Nordex N60 
Capacity: 3.9MW

6  High Sharpley - County Durham 
Type: 2 Nordex N60 
Capacity: 2.6MW

7  Loscar - Yorkshire 
Type: 3 Acciona AW 1500 
Capacity: 4.5MW 

8  Orchard End - Lancashire  
Type: 2 Vestas V90 
Capacity: 4MW

9  Ramsey - Cambridgeshire 
Type: 1 Vestas V90 
Capacity: 1.8MW

10  Roskrow Barton - Cornwall 
Type: 2 Vestas V52 
Capacity: 1.7MW 

11  St Breock - Cornwall 
Type: 11 Bonus 450 
Capacity: 4.95MW

12  Whittlesey - Cambridgeshire 
Type: 1 Vestas V90 
Capacity: 1.8MW

Operating on Behalf of 
Third Party
1  Sancton Hill - Yorkshire 
Type: 5 Vestas V80 
Capacity: 10MW

2  South Sharpley - County Durham 
Type: 3 Vestas V80 

Capacity: 6MW

1

3

10

11

7

4

9

212 5

36

7

1

8

1

2

52 4

6

Awaiting Construction
1  Cheverton Down - Isle of Wight 
Capacity: 1.2MW

2  Draperstown - County Londonderry 
Capacity: 6MW

3  French Farm - Cambridgeshire 
Capacity: 4MW

4  High Down Redland - Cornwall 
Capacity: 0.5MW

5  Ramsey Extension - Cambridgeshire  
Capacity: 8MW

6  Rodbaston - Staffordshire  
Capacity: 4MW

7  St Breock Repower - Cornwall 
Capacity: 10MW
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REG Bio-Power Locations and Coverage

HWRC Oil Collections (Wales)

Generation and CHP Sites
 Location Units Capacity

 Port of Dover (CHP) 1  0.15MW
 Hockwold 2  0.4MW
 Bentwaters 3  6.0MW
  
 Leeds North 4  2.5MW
 

Generation Sites in Procurement
 Location Units Capacity

 Whitemoor 5  18.0MW

HWRC Oil Collections (England)
 County HWRC Collection points
  
 Bedfordshire 
 Berkshire 
 Buckinghamshire 
  
 Cambridgeshire 
 Cheshire 
 Derbyshire 
 Devon 
  
 Dorset 
  
 Durham 
  
 East Riding of Yorkshire 
 East Sussex 
  
 Gloucestershire 
 Greater Manchester 
 Hampshire 
  
  
 Hertfordshire 
  
 Kent 
  
  
 Leicestershire 
  
 Lincolnshire 
  
  
 London 
  
  
 Merseyside 
  
 Norfolk 
  
 North Yorkshire 
  
 Nottinghamshire 
  
 Oxfordshire 
 Shropshire 
 Somerset 
  
  
 South Yorkshire 
  
 Staffordshire 
  
 Suffolk 
  
 Surrey 
  
 Warwickshire 
 West Midlands 
 West Sussex 
 West Yorkshire 
  
 Wiltshire 
  
 Worcestershire  
  

1

3

2

5 4

 County HWRC Collection points
  
 Bridgend 
 Glamorgan 
 Neath Port Talbot 
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The board of Renewable Energy Generation Limited (“REG”)  
comprises five Non-Executive directors and two Executive directors.

Mike Liston OBE  
Chairman, Non-Executive Director 
Mike Liston is a chartered electrical engineer, with more than 30 years experience of UK and 
overseas power industries, in Policy, Operations and Technical functions.

He was for 17 years until 2009, Chief Executive of the power utility Jersey Electricity PLC, 
where he remains a Non-Executive Director. He is Chairman of the postal utility Jersey 
Post International Ltd., a director of Foresight Solar VCT PLC and Chairman of the General 
Partner in that Group’s European Solar business. He is Senior Independent Director of the 
International fiduciary services business JTC Group Holdings.

Mike’s recent roles included Chairman of the energy infrastructure investor KSK Emerging 
India Energy Fund and Chairman of the Jersey Appointments Commission, which ensures 
probity in public sector appointments.

Mike is a Fellow of The Royal Academy of Engineering and is a Fellow of The Institution of Engineering and Technology.

Mike was awarded an OBE in the 2007 New Years Honours List, for services to the electricity industry, and in 2012 was elected a 
Jurat (Lay Judge) of the Royal Court of Jersey.

He is a member of the Audit Committee of Renewable Energy Generation Limited 

Nigel Le Quesne  
Non-Executive Director, Chairman of  the Audit Committee 
Nigel Le Quesne is the Group CEO and Chairman of JTC Group and has been instrumental 
in the development of the JTC Group over the last 25 years. Drawing on extensive 
experience gained from roles as diverse as personal trustee through to directorships of 
quoted companies, he provides strategic leadership and management for all areas of the 
Group’s operations as well as developing the people he works with. As a widely respected 
industry figure, Nigel has also been named as one of the top 20 trustees internationally in 
the Citywealth Leaders List 2011 and 2012.

Nigel is Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee of Renewable Energy Generation Limited. 

Nigel is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and the 
Chartered Management Institute.  He is also a member of the Society of Trust Estate Practitioners, the Jersey Taxation Society, 
the Institute of Directors and the Jersey Funds Association. 

Dr Malcolm Kennedy CBE 
Non-Executive Director, Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
Dr Kennedy has held many high profile positions during more than 40 years in the 
power industry, including his Presidency of the Institution of Electrical Engineers from 
1999-2000.  He is a fellow of the Royal Society of Edinburgh, the Royal Academy of 
Engineering, and in 1999 was awarded a CBE in recognition of his services to exports to 
developing markets.  He was formerly Chairman of NEA, national energy action charity, 
and advises OFGEM.   Malcolm was formerly Chairman of the international consulting 
engineers PB Power Ltd, formerly Merz & McLellan, which he joined in 1964.  He was 
appointed a member of the Electricity Networks Strategy Group in 2005, sponsored by 
OFGEM and BIS.  He is Chairman of Applied Superconductors Limited and an adviser 
to consultants London Power Associates.  He has recently retired as a Non-Executive 
director of the New and Renewable Energy Centre.

Malcolm is Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of Renewable 
Energy Generation Limited.

John Scally
Non-Executive Director   
John Scally MBA is a Fellow of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and has over 
40 years experience in property development and investment. He has worked in both the 
private and public sectors in the UK and in Europe. John is director of the Jersey based 
property consultancy firm Asset-Era.  He was Chief Executive of a Jersey based private 
property company and before that he was the Managing Director of the Jersey Waterfront 
Enterprise Board. In the UK, he was Director of Development for the successful Tyne & 
Wear Urban Development Corporation. 

Currently John is a Trustee of the CTJ Housing Trust, Chair of Trustees for Beaulieu 
Convent School and a member of the board of Governors for De La Salle College in 
Jersey. In the past, John has been Chair of an Arts Trust, Deputy Chair of a Health Trust 

and a Director in a number of Urban Initiatives set up by the UK Government. 

Charlotte Valeur Adu  
Non-Executive Director 
Charlotte Valeur is the Managing Director of GFG Ltd, a governance consultancy company.

Charlotte currently serves on boards and committees of a number of listed and unlisted 
companies. She is the Chairman of Brevan Howard Credit Catalyst, a LSE listed investment 
company and a Non Executive Director of JP Morgan Convertibles Income fund, a LSE 
listed investment company.

Charlotte has in excess of 30 years experience in the Financial Markets.

Prior to GFG Charlotte was a Managing Partner at Brook Street Partners Ltd from January 
2003 and worked in The City of London as a Director in Capital Markets at Warburg, BNP 

Paribas, Societe Generale and Commerzbank. Charlotte began her career in Copenhagen in 1982 with Nordea A/S. In 1991 
she moved to the London office of Nordea A/S as Head of the UK Fixed Income Sales group.

Charlotte is a member of The Institute of Directors and is regulated by the Jersey Financial Services Commission in the conduct 
of Trust Company business. 

Andrew Whalley  
Chief Executive 
Andrew established REG in 2005 and took over as Chief Executive Officer in 2007.

Prior to establishing REG, Andrew was a leading fund manager in the utility sector 
and managed the UK’s first dedicated utility fund, launched in 1993. He was head of 
investments at Legg Mason Investments PLC where he was also on the main Board. Prior 
to this he was chief investment officer and a main Board director at Johnson Fry before 
the Company’s sale to Legg Mason Inc, one of the US’ largest fund management groups. 
He has over 20 years experience of financial markets. 

Andrew also serves on the Board of ITI Energy which is a leading UK company involved in 
the manufacture of gasification plant for the waste to energy industry.  

David Crockford  
Finance Director 
David commenced his career as a Chartered Accountant with Deloitte where he gained 
10 years of experience in private and public sector business. Following his time at 
Deloitte, David moved overseas to work in the international petroleum sector. Prior to 
his appointment as Finance Director to Renewable Energy Generation, he was the Chief 
Financial Officer of Duchy Originals Limited. 
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013.

Principal activity

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries, (“the Group”), in the year under review were the development, 
construction and operation of renewable energy facilities across the UK.

Financial risk management

The Group finances its activities with a combination of short term and long term bank loans, cash and short-term deposits.  
The group uses cash and short term loans from its bankers to finance the development and construction of its property, 
plant and equipment which is predominantly wind farms in the UK.  Where needed, the Group employs letters of credit 
backed either by the group’s cash balance or short term loan arrangements.  On completion and successful commissioning 
of projects, the group refinances the assets with longer term debt that more suits the expected useful life of the asset.

The board actively monitor the cash and debt position of the group, and allocates funds to each of its cash generating units 
based on capital requirements, cash commitments and the most appropriate source of funding for each project.

Other financial assets and liabilities, such as trade receivables and trade payables, arise directly from the Group’s operating 
activities.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including principally interest rate swaps and forward currency contracts. 
The purpose is to manage the interest rate and currency risks arising from the Group’s operations and its sources of 
finance. It is and has been throughout 2013 and 2012 the Group’s policy that no speculative trading in derivatives shall be 
undertaken.

Financial instruments give rise to foreign currency, interest rate, credit, and liquidity risk.

Information on how these risks arise is set out below, as are the objectives, policies and processes agreed by the board for 
their management and the methods used to measure each risk. Derivative instruments are used to change the economic 
characteristics of financial instruments in accordance with the Group’s policies.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s transactional currency exposures arise from purchases by an operating unit in currencies other than its 
functional currency.  It is the Group’s policy not to enter into forward contracts for purchases until a firm commitment is 
in place.  Forward currency contracts must be in the same currency as the hedged item and it is the Group’s policy to 
negotiate the terms of the hedge derivatives to match the terms of the hedged item to maximise hedge effectiveness.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s policy is to manage its cost of borrowing using a mix of variable rate debt and fixed rate borrowings via interest 
rate swaps.  Whilst fixed rate interest bearing debt is not exposed to cash flow interest rate risk, there is no opportunity for 
the Group to enjoy a reduction in borrowing costs in markets where rates are falling.  In addition, the fair value risk inherent 
in fixed rate borrowings means that the Group is exposed to unplanned costs should debt be restructured or repaid early 
as part of the liquidity management process. In contrast, whilst floating rate borrowings are not exposed to changes in fair 
value, the Group is exposed to cash flow risk as costs increase if market rates rise.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties, who are generally blue chip energy corporates.  UK 
electricity generation is predominately sold under power purchase agreements to three customers.  Renewable Obligation 
Certificates are sold under those power purchase agreements and to a lesser extent on the open market with little or no 
credit risk involved in the transactions.  Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the 
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, 
the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying 
amount of these instruments.

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to mitigate liquidity risk by managing cash generation and investment by its operations.  Cash forecasts 
identify the liquidity requirements of the business over a 36 month period and are regularly reviewed by management to 
ensure sufficient headroom exists.  In its funding strategy, the Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity 
of funding and flexibility through the use of credit facilities and bank loans.
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Report of the Directors Report of the Directors

energy projects.  As a result, the immediate cash flow needs of the Group are covered by its current cash balances. Given 
that the debt is secured against operating sites, with a known history of operating costs, the key assumption in satisfying 
covenants is wind volumes. Covenant compliance is maintained with wind volumes in the lowest 10% of long term statistical 
averages. Over the 10 to 12 year term of this debt this is considered remote, and the Group has the ability to inject equity 
into the projects if wind volumes are below covenant levels.

Going forward, the preference will be to continue to finance future construction with a combination of equity recycling and 
debt.

The Board has reviewed the Group’s forecasts and budgets over the next 12 months from the date of this report and are 
satisfied that current cash balances in combination with cash generation from operating activities will provide sufficient 
liquidity for the Group.  Accordingly the accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis. 

Post balance sheet events

On 31 July 2013 it was announced that the Group had completed the long term project financing of its 4MW Orchard End 
wind farm in Lancashire.  The 10 year project financing for £4.2m was provided by the Co-operative Bank at an all in rate of 
6.075% (see note 36).

On 5 August 2013, the Company issued and allotted 150,376 ordinary shares of 10p each as vendor consideration in 
connection with the payment of deferred consideration for Brackagh Quarry Wind Farm Limited.

On 9 September 2013 it was announced that the Group had sold its 12MW operational wind farm at Goonhilly Downs in 
Cornwall for a total consideration of £25.1m. Under the agreement, the acquirer assumed project debt of £14.5m and the 
Group received net cash proceeds of £10.6m.

Disclosure of information to auditor

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Director’s Report confirm that, so far as they are aware, there is 
no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and each Director has taken all the steps that they 
ought to have taken as a Director to make themselves aware of any audit information and to establish that the Company’s 
auditor is aware of that information.

Independent auditor

Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditor of the company and a resolution to reappoint 
them will be proposed as the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

 
Approved by the Board of Directors 
and signed on behalf of the Board

David Crockford 
Director 
15 October 2013

Excess cash used in managing liquidity is only invested in financial instruments exposed to insignificant risk of changes in 
market value, being placed on interest-bearing deposit.

The Board continues to evaluate financing opportunities that will facilitate the continued build out of the Group’s development 
portfolios over and above that allowed by cash balances on hand.

Results and dividends

The results for the year are shown on page 28. 

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of 1.5 p (2012 – 1.5 p).

Directors and their interests

The Directors in office during the year and their interests in the share capital of the Company are shown in the table below:-

Ordinary shares of 10p each

1 July 2012 30 June 2013 15 October 2013

No. No. No.

Mike Liston 48,131 48,131 48,131

Nigel Le Quesne 23,000 23,000 23,000

Malcolm Kennedy 13,500 13,500 13,500

John Scally - - -

Charlotte Valeur - - -

Andrew Whalley 342,017 342,017 342,017

David Crockford 33,185 33,185 33,185

Directors’ interests in share options are disclosed on page 23.

Substantial shareholdings

As at 30 June 2013, the Company had the following disclosable interests which amounted to 3 per cent or more of the 
issued share capital of the Company:-

Number Percentage held

Utilico Investments 27,765,585 26.84

Henderson Global Investments 14,669,108 14.18

CG asset Management 13,766,233 13.31

Artemis Investment Management 12,578,501 12.16

Ecofin 6,771,427 6.55

Alliance Trust 5,657,020 5.47

Rathbones 5,224,247 5.05

Subsequent to the 30 June 2013 the company did not receive any notifications under Chapter 5 of the Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules.

During the year company purchased 100,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of £10,000, and representing 0.1% of the 
company’s called up ordinary share capital, for a consideration of £60,000, to satisfy options under the group’s share option 
schemes.

Payment policy

It is the Group’s policy to settle the terms of payment with suppliers when agreeing the terms of the transaction, to ensure 
that Suppliers are aware of these terms and abide by them.

Going concern

A review of business activity and future prospects of the Group is covered in the Chairman’s and Chief Executive Officer’s 
statement. Detailed information regarding the Group’s current facility levels, liquidity risk and maturity dates are provided in 
note 25. 

The strategy of the Group to manage its capital structure with a balance of cash, debt and the recycling of equity through 
strategic asset sales has allowed the release of cash for onward investment in its growing portfolio of consented renewable 
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Directors’ share options – Employee Share Option Plan

The following options granted under the Employee Share Option Plan were held by Directors during the period to 30 June 
2013:

1 July  
2012

Granted/
(Retired)

30 June 2013 Exercise 
price

Date from which 
exercisable

Expiry date

Andrew Whalley 208,333 - 208,333 114.00p 5 December 2010 5 December 2017

250,000 (75,000) 175,000 65.50p 26 November 2012 26 November 2019

300,000 - 300,000 56.60p 22 March 2014 22 March 2021

450,000 - 450,000 45.25p 18 October 2014 18 October 2021

1,208,333 (75,000) 1,133,333

David Crockford 83,333 - 83,333 114.00p 5 December 2010 5 December 2017

150,000 (45,000) 105,000 65.50p 26 November 2012 26 November 2019

200,000 - 200,000 56.60p 22 March 2014 22 March 2021

300,000 - 300,000 45.25p 18 October 2014 18 October 2021

733,333 (45,000) 688,333

Share options are awarded by the Remuneration Committee under the Employee Share Option Plan.  Options can only be 
exercised if certain Performance Conditions are satisfied.  The Performance Conditions are measured once only at the end 
of the Performance Period, which commences on the date of grant of the Options and ends on the third anniversary of that 
date.

The value delivered to the Company’s shareholders (total shareholder return) will be ranked in comparison with the value 
delivered to the shareholders of a basket of other similar companies which have been selected by the Board of Directors. 
The companies are placed together in a “Comparator Group”.

If the Company’s ranking is below the median of the Comparator Group then the Options shall not vest and shall lapse at 
the end of the Performance Period.  If the Company’s performance places it at the median of the Comparator Group, then 
the 50% of the Options shall be exercisable.  If the Company’s ranking places it above the median of the Comparator Group 
then, depending on its exact placing in the Comparator Group, a percentage above 50% and up to 100% of the Options 
shall vest.

No awards were made during the year to the Directors under the Employee Share Option Plan.

Directors’ share options – Long Term Incentive Plan

The following share awards granted under the Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) were held by Directors during the period to 
30 June 2013:

1 July  
2012

Granted/
(Retired)

30 June 2013 Exercise 
price

Date from which 
exercisable

 
Expiry date

Andrew Whalley - 355,141 355,141 - 11 February 2016 11 February 2023

David Crockford - 251,559 251,559 - 11 February 2016 11 February 2023

Participation in the LTIP is at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee with awards being based on a percentage of 
the participant’s base annual salary at the date the recommendation is made.  Awards give participants a right to receive 
up to a specified maximum number of shares in the Company at the end of a vesting period of three years and subject to 
achievement of a performance target or targets to be determined by the Remuneration Committee.  The awards are made in 
the form of options to acquire shares for nil consideration.

The awards will vest early under certain other limited circumstances, including in the event of a change of control in the 
Company, although such exercise will normally be subject, unless the Remuneration Committee determines otherwise, to the 
satisfaction of the performance conditions and the number of shares in respect of which the award may be exercised being 
pro-rated to reflect the proportion of the vesting period that has elapsed.

The plan is subject to an overall limit on the number of shares that may be allocated under it.  This provides that, for the time 
being, in any ten-year period not more than 10% in aggregate of the issued ordinary shares of the Company may be issued 
or transferred out of treasury to satisfy awards granted under the LTIP and any other employee share schemes adopted by 
the Company.  Shares acquired by an employee benefit trust in the market will not count towards this limit.

The Directors present a Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2013.

A resolution to approve this Directors’ Remuneration Report will be proposed at the Company’s forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee membership consists of Nigel Le Quesne, John Scally and Malcolm Kennedy. 
The Committee meets at least once a year and is charged with advising on the nomination and remuneration policy for the 
Executive Directors.

Non-Executive Directors

The Non-Executive Directors do not have service contracts.  The Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment 
concerning, amongst other things, the initial terms for which they are appointed, a general statement of their role and the 
duties and the fees they will receive as a Director.

Service Contracts and Letters of Appointment

The Letters of Appointment of the Directors who served during the period ending 30 June 2013 include the following terms:-

Date of letter of appointment Unexpired term (months) Notice period (months)

Executive Directors

Andrew Whalley 1 July 2007 12 12

David Crockford 4 December 2007 12 12

Non-Executive Directors

Mike Liston 1 July 2013 12 1

Nigel Le Quesne 1 July 2013 12 1

Malcolm Kennedy 1 July 2013 12 1

John Scally 1 July 2013 12 1

Charlotte Valeur 1 July 2013 12 1

Non-Executives are generally appointed for terms of one year. The Letters of Appointment contain a notice period of 1 
month.

Directors’ Remuneration Fees/ 
salary

Benefits in 
kind

 
Pension Annual bonus

Total 
2013

Total  
2012

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Executive directors

Andrew Whalley 267 2 25 110 404 359

David Crockford 190 1 18 85 294 260

Non-Executive directors

Mike Liston 50 - - - 50 50

Nigel Le Quesne 25 - - - 25 25

Malcolm Kennedy 25 - - - 25 25

John Scally 25 - - - 25 25

Charlotte Valeur 25 - - - 25 25

Aggregate Remuneration 607 3 43 195 848 769

The Group operates a discretionary bonus scheme for all staff. Bonus awards are determined with reference to the 
performance of the company against its peers, financial goals set by the Board and personal objectives set for each member 
of staff on an annual basis.

For the executive directors, the maximum award under the current bonus scheme is set at 50% of base salary.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to meeting high standards of corporate governance and as such the Board acknowledges its 
contribution to achieving management accountability, improving risk management and ultimately to creating shareholder 
value.  The Company has its listing on the AIM and therefore does not need to comply with the UK Corporate Governance 
Code.  However, we have chosen to report on Corporate Governance because in our view it constitutes best practice.

Operation of the Board

The Board of Directors comprises the Non-Executive Chairman, four other Non-Executive Directors and two Executive 
Directors.  The Board is responsible to the Company’s shareholders for the proper management of the Company.  It met 
eleven times during the year. All Directors receive written reports prior to each Board meeting which enable them to make 
informed decisions on the corporate and business issues under consideration.  

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and all Directors have 
access to their advice and services.  

The Board has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to it for decision. These include strategic planning, business 
acquisitions and disposals, authorisation of major capital expenditure and material contractual arrangements, setting policies 
for the conduct of business and approval of budgets and financial statements.  Operational decisions are delegated to the 
Executive Directors.

Evaluation of the Board’s performance

Performance evaluation takes place at a number of levels, for individual Directors, Board committees and in assessing the 
effectiveness of the Board as a whole. The evaluation of individual Directors’ performance is carried out by the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee. Executive Directors’ performance is evaluated using a balanced scorecard approach which combines 
business and personal performance objectives with financial and non-financial measures of achievement against those objectives.

The evaluation of Non-Executive Directors uses self-appraisal and interview with the Chairman to consider aspects of 
performance including attendance and participation at Board meetings, quality of involvement in committees, commitment 
and effectiveness of their contribution to Board activities, the adequacy of training and Director independence.  The 
performance of the Chairman is reviewed annually in a meeting of the Executive and Non-Executive Directors.

Board Committees

The Board has established a number of committees, each with defined terms of reference, procedures, responsibilities 
and powers. The minutes of committee meetings are normally sent to all Directors and verbal updates are given at Board 
meetings.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of Mike Liston, Malcolm Kennedy, Charlotte Valeur and Nigel Le Quesne (Chairman). The Audit 
Committee met three times during the year to consider the annual and interim Financial Statements and is charged with monitoring 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of internal control and risk assurance function, reviewing the scope and results of 
the work carried out by external auditors and reviewing the Financial Statements and related policies and assumptions. The scope 
of the non-audit services provided is reviewed by the Audit Committee before engagement of the services.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee will be available for inspection at the AGM.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee met three times during the year and comprises Malcolm Kennedy (chairman), 
John Scally and Nigel Le Quesne all of whom are Non-Executive Directors.  The Committee keeps under review the 
composition of the Board and makes recommendations to the Board concerning appointments. 

The Committee is also responsible for setting remuneration for all Executive Directors appointed by the Company, including 
pension rights and provision for compensation payments.

Communications and relationships with Shareholders

Communications with shareholders are given high priority. The Board is accountable to the Company’s shareholders and as 
such it is important for the Board to appreciate the requirements of shareholders and equally that shareholders understand 
how the actions of the Board and short-term financial performance relates to the achievement of the Company’s longer term 
goals.

The Company has a policy of maintaining an active dialogue with institutional shareholders, fund managers and analyst, 
together with general presentations, at the time of the announcement of the financial results. The Annual General Meeting 
is used as an opportunity to communicate with shareholders. All shareholders are given due notice of the Annual General 
Meeting and are welcome to participate.

The Remuneration Committee has determined that in each case the vesting of these awards should be linked to, and be 
conditional upon, a performance condition measuring the Company’s total shareholder return over a three-year performance 
period against the total shareholder return over the same period of the companies constituting the FTSE AIM All Share Index.  
If the Company is ranked at the median, 25% of the shares in an award will vest with 100% vesting if it is ranked in the top 
quartile.  Between these the percentage of shares in an award will vest on a straight-line sliding scale with the awards lapsing 
if the Company is ranked below the median.

The market price of the Company’s shares on 30 June 2013 was 67.00 pence per share. The highest and lowest market 
prices during the year for each share under option that was unexpired at the year end were 72.0 pence and  
43.0 pence respectively.

The most recent market price was 76p.

Approval

The Directors’ Remuneration Report was approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:-

Nigel Le Quesne 
Director 
15 October 2013
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Directors’ Responsibilities Statement Independent auditor’s report to the members of 
Renewable Energy Generation Limited

We have audited the group financial statements (the “financial statements”) of Renewable Energy Generation Limited 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 which comprise the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated cash flow statement, the consolidated 
statements of changes in equity and the related notes 1 to 36. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Article 113A of the Companies (Jersey) 
Law 1991.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.  Our responsibility is to audit and express 
an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland).  Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.  
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements.  If we become 
aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 30 June 2013 and of the group’s 
profit  for the year then ended;

• the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 requires us to report 
to you if, in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company or returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us; or

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Darren Longley, FCA 
for and on behalf of  Deloitte LLP 
Chartered Accountants  
Crawley, United Kingdom  

15th October 2013

The directors are responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have 
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board. The financial statements are required by law to be properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991.  

International Accounting Standard 1 requires that financial statements present fairly for each financial year the company’s 
financial position, financial performance and cash flows.  This requires the faithful representation of the effects of 
transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses set out in the International Accounting Standards Board’s ‘Framework for the preparation and 
presentation of financial statements’.  In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation will be achieved by compliance with all 
applicable IFRSs.  However, directors are also required to:

• properly select and apply accounting policies;

• present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and 
understandable information; 

• provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users 
to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and 
financial performance; and

• make an assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies 
(Jersey) Law 1991. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the 
Company’s website. Legislation in Jersey governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ 
from legislation in other jurisdictions.



28 Annual Report and Accounts for the Year Ended 30 June 2013

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

29Annual Report and Accounts for the Year Ended 30 June 2013

Consolidated Income Statement Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Notes 2013 2012

£000 £000

Profit/(loss) for the year 6,514 (1,797)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges:

Foreign currency letters of credit 25 390 (161)

Interest rate swaps 25 965 (2,661)

Taxation on financial instruments (340) 677

Other comprehensive income/(expense) net of taxation 1,015 (2,145)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 7,529 (3,942)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year attribut-
able to:

Equity holders of the parent 7,529 (3,942)

Non-controlling interests - -

7,529 (3,942)

Notes 2013 2012

£000 £000

Revenue 5 13,406 12,108

Cost of sales (7,675) (6,968)

Gross profit 5,731 5,140

Central administrative expenses (1,661) (1,627)

Exceptional administrative expenses 9 - (64)

Total central administrative expenses (1,661) (1,691)

Biopower administrative expenses (613) (620)

Wind administrative expenses (3,524) (2,733)

Development costs (1,350) (1,427)

Group trading loss (1,417) (1,331)

Other operating income 6 - 125

Group operating loss (1,417) (1,206)

Profit on disposal of subsidiaries 34 9,116 -

Finance revenue 7 170 41

Finance costs 8 (2,040) (791)

Profit / (loss) before taxation 10 5,829 (1,956)

Tax credit 12 685 159

Profit/(loss) for the year 6,514 (1,797)

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:

      Equity holders of the parent 6,514 (1,797)

      Non-controlling interests - -

6,514 (1,797)

Profit/(loss) per share (pence)

Basic EPS/(LPS) 14 6.30p (1.74p)

Diluted EPS/(LPS) 14 6.20p (1.74p)

All results relate to continuing operations.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Share 
 capital

Share 
premium 
account

Own 
shares

Share 
 based 

payment 
 reserve

Retained 
 earnings

Hedging  
reserve

Non 
controlling 

interest
Total 

Equity

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 30 June 2011 10,325 79,707 - 1,179 (19,758) - - 71,453

Loss for the year - - - - (1,797) - - (1,797)

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges:

Foreign currency let-
ters of credit - - - - - (161) - (161)

Interest rate swaps - - - - - (2,661) - (2,661)

Taxation - - - - - 677 - 677

Total comprehensive 
income - - - - (1,797) (2,145) - (3,942)

Issue of new equity 5 - - - - - - 5

Share based pay-
ments - - - 148 - - - 148

Reserves transfer - - - (16) 16 - - -

Dividend - - - - (2,065) - - (2,065)

Sale of non-control-
ling interest - - - - - - 550 550

At 30 June 2012 10,330 79,707 - 1,311 (23,604) (2,145) 550 66,149

Profit for the year - - - - 6,514 - - 6,514

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges:

Foreign currency let-
ters of credit - - - - - 390 - 390

Interest rate swaps - - - - - 965 - 965

Taxation - - - - - (340) - (340)

Total comprehensive 
income - - - - 6,514 1,015 - 7,529

Issue of new equity 15 85 - - - - - 100

Purchase of own 
shares - - (60) - - - - (60)

Share based pay-
ments - - - 120 - - - 120

Reserves transfer - - - (1,093) 1,093 - - -

Dividend - - - - (2,065) - - (2,065)

At 30 June 2013 10,345 79,792 (60) 338 (18,062) (1,130) 550 71,773

Notes 2013 2012

£000 £000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Goodwill 16 7,390 7,390

Development costs 16 13,907 7,682

Property, plant and equipment 18 41,576 67,205

Deferred tax asset 26 1,664 941

64,537 83,218

Current assets

Inventories 19 419 242

Trade and other receivables 20 4,359 4,395

Intangibles 21 2,238 2,362

Restricted cash 22 8,229 8,582

Cash and cash equivalents 22 16,059 9,566

Derivative financial instruments 25 47 -

Assets classified as held for sale 15 22,808 -

54,159 25,147

TOTAL ASSETS 118,696 108,365

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 23 10,913 4,949

Borrowings 24 860 1,356

Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale 15 15,981 -

27,754 6,305

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 24 17,849 33,137

Derivative financial instruments 25 1,196 2,661

Deferred tax liabilities 26 124 113

19,169 35,911

TOTAL LIABILITIES 46,923 42,216

EQUITY

Share capital 27 10,345 10,330

Share premium 28 79,792 79,707

Own shares 29 (60) -

Share based payment reserve 30 338 1,311

Hedging reserve (1,130) (2,145)

Retained earnings (18,062) (23,604)

Total equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders 71,223 65,599

Non-controlling interests 550 550

Total Equity 71,773 66,149

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 118,696 108,365

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 15 October 2013.

They were signed on its behalf by

 
David Crockford 
Director
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes 2013 2012

£000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash generated in operating activities 31 3,665 671

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (10,370) (17,211)

Capitalised development costs (6,080) (3,283)

Acquisition of subsidiary (229) (450)

Net proceeds from sale of subsidiary 12,729 2,329

Interest received 125 -

Movement in restricted cash accounts (665) (7,682)

Net cash used in investing activities (4,490) (26,297)

Cash flows from financing activities

New bank loans raised (net of issue costs) 24 14,724 23,892

Repayment of borrowings 24 (1,535) (717)

Interest paid (including interest rate swap) (2,272) (819)

Purchase of own shares (60) -

Dividends paid to the Company’s equity shareholders 13 (2,065) (2,065)

Net cash generated from financing activities 8,792 20,291

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 7,967 (5,335)

Cash at the beginning of the year 9,566 14,901

Cash at end of year 17,533 9,566

Cash included in disposal group classified as held for sale 1,474 -
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1. General Information

Renewable Energy Generation Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) provide shareholders with 
the opportunity to participate in the growth of the renewable energy market through the development, construction and 
ownership of wind energy and other renewable power projects. 

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Jersey.  The address of its registered office is 
Elizabeth House, 9 Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey JE4 2QP.  The Company has its listing on the London Stock Exchange 
Alternative Investment Market.

The Group financial statements are presented in Sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the group operates. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£) except when otherwise indicated.

2. Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements of the Group are for the year to 30 June 2013.

The Group’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the IASB and Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 as they apply to the financial statements of the 
Group for the year ended 30 June 2013.

In the current year the following new and revised standard and interpretations have been adopted:

 Amendments to IAS 1 (Oct 2011)  - Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

 Amendments to IAS 12 (Dec 2010)  - Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets

Neither of the new or revised standards that have been adopted affected the amounts reported in the financial statements.

Standards not affecting the reported results and financial position

IASB and IFRIC have issued the following relevant standards and interpretations with an effective date after the date of these 
financial statements:

International Accounting Standards (IAS / IFRSs) Effective date

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments 1 January 2015

IAS 39 (amended Jun 2013) - Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting 1 January 2014

IAS 36 (amended Jun 2013) - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 1 January 2014

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 - Investment Entities 1 January 2014

IAS 19 (revised June 2011) - Employee Benefits 1 January 2013

IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement 1 January 2013

IFRS 12 - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2013

IFRS 11 - Joint Arrangements 1 January 2013

IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2013

IAS 28 (revised May 2011) - Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2013

IAS 27 (revised May 2011) - Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2013

IAS 32 (amended Dec 2011) - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 1 January 2014

IFRS 7 (amended Dec 2011) - IFRS 7 (amended Dec 2011) – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities

1 January 2013

Management are of the view that early adoption will not materially change financial performance or position, except as 
follows:

• IFRS 9 will impact both the measurement and disclosures of financial instruments

• IFRS 13 will impact the measurement of fair value for certain assets and liabilities as well as the associated disclosures

Beyond the above, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of these standards until a detailed 
review has been completed.

3. Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The Group’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the IASB as they apply to the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2013.  

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of financial instruments. 
The accounting policies which follow set out those policies which apply in preparing the financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2013 and are consistent with those applied for the year ended 30 June 2012.

Separate accounts

Under Article 105(11) of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 the directors of a holding company need not prepare separate 
accounts (i.e. company only accounts) if consolidated accounts for the company are prepared, unless required to do so by 
the members of the company by ordinary resolution. The members of the Company have not passed a resolution requiring 
separate accounts and, in the Directors’ opinion, the Company meets the definition of a holding company. As permitted by 
the law, the Directors have elected not to prepare separate accounts.

Going Concern

The Board has reviewed the Group’s forecasts and budgets over the next 12 months and are satisfied that current cash 
balances in combination with cash generation from operating activities will provide sufficient liquidity for the Group.  
Accordingly the accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis. Further details are included in the Directors’ 
report.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 30 June 
2013.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions 
that are recognised in assets, are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and 
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for 
the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can 
be reliably measured.  Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. The following specific 
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

a. Generation and embedded benefits revenue 
Revenue from the sale of electricity represents the invoice value, pre sales tax, of electricity provided to third parties and 
is recognised when electricity is generated. Revenue from generating under the Short Term Operating Reserve (“STOR”) 
is recognised in line with this policy. STOR availability revenue due from standby payments is recognised in line with 
the contracted hours. Embedded benefits are paid to generating plant located on the distribution network to reflect the 
lower cost of transporting electricity to the end user and are recorded at the invoice value.

b. TRIADS revenue 
Revenue from the sale of TRIADS (bonus for generating at peak demand times during the winter months) represents 
the invoice value, before sales tax, of TRIADS provided to third parties and is recognised when eligible electricity is 
generated.

c. ROCs, LECs and revenue 
Renewable Obligation Certificates (ROCs) are issued to qualifying renewable generators under the terms of the 
generating stations OFGEM Renewable Obligation registration.  These certificates may be traded separately from the 
electricity to which they relate.  The ROCs are recorded as a current intangible at cost when the electricity to which they 
relate is generated, and then under the revaluation model permitted by IAS38 are re-valued to fair value. This revaluation 
is recorded in the income statement in revenue due to the linked nature of the generation of electricity to the issue of 
ROCs. As a result of the fact that these certificates may be traded separately from the electricity to which they relate, 
revenue may include an amount relating to un-realised ROC sales.  
 
As such, following initial recognition at cost, the current intangible asset is revalued to its fair value and recorded on the 
balance sheet. The revalued amount is based on a market price in an active market at the revaluation date. 
 
Under the longer term PPAs the sale of ROCs is included with the underlying energy generation at a rate agreed in the contract. 
 
Renewable energy generators who meet Customs & Excise conditions for exemption will be issued with Levy Exemption 
Certificates (LECs) for their generation. The LECs transfer along with the electricity and can be used by business 
consumers to claim levy exemption. These certificates carry a statutory value and are recognised at this value as 
generated.

d. Sales of Bio liquid to third parties 
The Group produces a patented proprietary bio liquid recovered from recycled waste cooking oil (“LF100”). Revenue 
from sales of this product to third parties is recognised when risks and rewards are transferred to the buyer, typically on 
delivery.

e. Asset management fees 
Revenue from the provision of asset management services on third party renewable energy projects is recognised on an 
accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant contractual agreement.

f. Interest income 
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest method that is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset).

Administrative costs

Exceptional administrative costs are considered to be one off costs outside the normal operations of the business and are of 
a material nature.

During the year further administration costs were analysed in the income statement between wind, biopower and central 
costs to improve comparability. Prior year comparatives have been restated on the same basis.

Trading profit

Trading profit is stated after charging exceptional administrative costs and development costs expensed to the Income 
Statement but before other operating income. 

Operating profit

Operating profit is stated after charging exceptional administrative costs and development costs expensed to the Income 
Statement but before profit on disposal of subsidiaries, investment income and finance costs.

Share-based payment transactions

The cost of all equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which 
they are granted and is recognised as an expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the award. Fair value is determined using an appropriate pricing model. In valuing equity-
settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of 
the Company (market conditions).

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a 
market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that 
all other performance conditions are satisfied.

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to which the 
vesting period has expired and management’s best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions and 
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest or, in the case of an instrument subject to a market condition, 
be treated as vesting as described above. The movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance sheet date is 
recognised in the income statement, with a corresponding entry in equity.

Equity-settled transactions – Employee Share Option Plan I

Share options awarded under the Employee Share Option Plan I can only be exercised if certain Performance Conditions are 
satisfied.  The Performance Conditions are measured once only at the end of the Performance Period, which commences on 
the date of grant of the Options and ends on the third anniversary of that date.

The value delivered to the Company’s shareholders will be ranked in comparison with the value delivered to the shareholders 
of a basket of other similar companies which have been selected by the Board of Directors. The companies are placed 
together in a “Comparator Group”.

If the Company’s ranking is below the median of the Comparator Group then the Options shall not vest and shall lapse at 
the end of the Performance Period.  If the Company’s performance places it at the median of the Comparator Group, then 
the 50% of the Options shall be exercisable.  If the Company’s ranking places it above the median of the Comparator Group 
then, depending on its exact placing in the Comparator Group, a percentage above 50% and up to 100% of the Options 
shall vest.

The Employee Share Option Plan I was closed to new entrants and further awards during the financial year ended 30 June 
2013 and replaced by Employee Share Option Plan II, a new approved employee share options scheme, with differing terms 
and conditions

Equity-settled transactions – Employee Share Option Plan II

Share options awarded under the Employee Share Option Plan II are not subject to performance conditions and have a three 
year vesting period and a ten year exercise period from the date of grant.

Equity-settled transactions – Long Term Incentive Plan

Participation in the Long Term Incentive Plan is at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee with awards being based 
on a percentage of the participant’s base annual salary at the date the recommendation is made.  Awards give participants 
a right to receive up to a specified maximum number of shares in the Company at the end of a vesting period of three years 
and subject to achievement of a performance target or targets to be determined by the Remuneration Committee.  The 
awards are made in the form of options to acquire shares for nil consideration.

The awards will vest early under certain other limited circumstances, including in the event of a change of control in the 
Company, although such exercise will normally be subject, unless the Remuneration Committee determines otherwise, to the 
satisfaction of the performance conditions and the number of shares in respect of which the award may be exercised being 
pro-rated to reflect the proportion of the vesting period that has elapsed.

The plan is subject to an overall limit on the number of shares that may be allocated under it.  This provides that, for the time 
being, in any ten year period not more than 10% in aggregate of the issued ordinary shares of the Company may be issued 
or transferred out of treasury to satisfy awards granted under the LTIP and any other employee share schemes adopted by 
the Company.  Shares acquired by an employee benefit trust in the market will not count towards this limit.

The vesting of these awards is linked to, and conditional upon, a performance condition measuring the Company’s total 
shareholder return over a three-year performance period against the total shareholder return over the same period of the 
companies constituting the FTSE AIM All Share Index.  At the point of vesting if the Company is ranked at the median, 
25% of the shares in an award will vest with 100% vesting if it is ranked in the top quartile.  Between these the percentage 
of shares in an award will vest on a straight-line sliding scale with the awards lapsing if the Company is ranked below the 
median.
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Taxation

Current tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from 
or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.  Deferred tax assets/liabilities are carried 
on an undiscounted basis.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that 
is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit 
and loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in 
joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

• where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset 
or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit and loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in 
joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences 
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised.  
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet 
date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

• where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 
which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as 
applicable; and

• receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet.

Business combinations

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for under the purchase method. The acquired business is measured at the 
date of acquisition as the aggregate fair value of asset, liabilities and contingent liabilities as required under IFRS 3 (2008) 
Business Combinations. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the acquired business is represented as 
goodwill. Pre-existing relationships are recognised and, together with all acquisition related costs, are expensed.

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted against the 
cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments. All other subsequent changes in the fair value of 
contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability are accounted for in accordance with the relevant IFRSs. Changes 
in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as equity are not recognised.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Those interests may initially 
be measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 
net assets. The choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests are 
initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of 
those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. 

Intangible assets

Detailed policies in relation to goodwill and development assets are set out below.

ROCs, described in the revenue recognition section, are included in the balance sheet as current intangibles.

Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business 
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.  
Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  Goodwill is reviewed 
for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to 
each of the cash-generating units to which it relates, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to generate future 
cash flows, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.  
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so allocated:

• represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes 
(usually at an operating segment level); and

• is not larger than a segment based on the Group’s primary reporting format determined in accordance with IFRS 8 
Operating Segments.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units), 
to which the goodwill relates.  Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) 
is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.  Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit 
(group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the 
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss in disposal of the 
operation.  Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of 
and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Development costs

Costs capitalised as development wind intangibles represent the costs incurred in bringing individual wind farm projects to 
the consented stage. Costs associated with reaching the consent stage include options over land rights, planning application 
costs and environment impact studies and related internal staff costs. These may be costs incurred directly or acquisition of 
a controlling interest in a project.

The point of capitalisation occurs following a site review by the Board, ensuring the key planning, construction and financing 
risks have been mitigated to a level where the Board considers it probable that the site will deliver future economic benefits.  
This includes demonstration of technical feasibility, intention to complete, availability of resources, how the asset will generate 
future economic benefits and the ability to reliably measure expenditure.

Development wind assets are not amortised until the asset is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. The 
asset is subjected to impairment testing on an annual basis until this time. 

At the point at which it is probable that the project under development will be constructed by the Group based on 
management judgement when the project meets key criteria required for its successful development, including planning 
permission and grid access, the project is transferred to Assets in the course of construction

Amortisation is over the expected useful life of the related operating asset. The asset is derecognised on disposal, or 
when no future economic benefits are expected from their use.  The carrying value of development costs is reviewed for 
impairment annually when the asset is not yet in use or more frequently when an indication of impairment arises during the 
reporting year.
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A summary of the policies applied to the Group’s development costs is as follows:

Useful life Finite, based on remaining useful life of assets once development has been 
completed.

Amortisation policy Amortised over the period of expected future sales from the related project on a 
straight-line basis.

Internally generated or acquired Both

Impairment testing/recoverable amount 
testing

Annually for assets not yet in use and more frequently when an indication of 
impairment exists.  The amortisation method is reviewed at each financial year-
end.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the income statement when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment of assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.  If any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount.  An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs 
to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that 
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.  When the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  Impairment losses of continuing 
operations are recognised in the income statement in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired 
asset.

As assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment 
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.  A 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  If that is the case the carrying amount of the 
asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is 
recognised in the income statement unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a 
revaluation increase.  After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised 
carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment in value.  Such cost 
includes the cost of replacing part of such plant and equipment when that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met, 
but excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing which is expensed as incurred.

Assets in the course of construction are stated at cost and are recognised only when it is probable that the asset under 
development will be constructed, based on a management judgement of when the project meets key criteria required for its 
successful development, including grid access or the completion of commercial heads of terms.

Assets in the course of construction are transferred to Operating wind sites or Other generation plant when they achieve 
commercial operation.

Depreciation is charged to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than assets in the course of construction and 
freehold land, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method, on the following bases;

• Operating wind sites    up to 20 years

• Other generation plant    5 to 20 years

• Fixtures, fittings and other equipment  5 to 10 years

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Freehold land and assets in the course of construction are not depreciated.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a 
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable 
and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition.  Management must be committed 
to the sale which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of 
classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that 
subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will 
retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all costs incurred in bringing each product 
to its present location and condition, as follows:

• Raw materials purchase cost on weighted average basis,

• Processed fuel cost of direct materials and labour plus attributable overheads based on a normal level of activity,  
   excluding borrowing costs; processed fuel is principally used in the process of electricity  
   generation.

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred to completion and 
disposal.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value, then stated at amortised cost.  Provision is made when there is 
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the debts.  Bad debts are written off when identified.  

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash in hand and deposits held at call with banks. 

Restricted cash amounts comprise of cash balances held with the banks that are not available to the Group.  The funds are 
used to provide collateral against future debt service costs and scheduled operating costs as part of the Group’s finance 
facilities. Cash backed letters of credit for the settlement of purchases of tangible fixed assets are also classified as restricted 
cash.

Trade payables

Trade payables are non interest-bearing and are stated at amortised cost.

Interest bearing loans and borrowings

Obligations for loans and borrowings are recognised when the Group becomes party to the related contracts and are 
measured initially at the fair value of consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.  Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlement or otherwise cancellation of liabilities are 
recognised respectively in finance revenue and finance cost. 

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred.  Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or 
construction of an asset are capitalised while the asset is being constructed as part of the cost of that asset.  Capitalisation 
of borrowing costs commences when:

• Expenditures for the asset and borrowing costs are being incurred; and

• Activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.

Capitalisation ceases when the asset is substantially ready for its intended use or sale.  For borrowings associated with 
a specific asset, the actual rate on that borrowing is used.  For construction funded from a general pool of borrowings, a 
weighted average cost of borrowings is used.
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Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

A financial asset or liability is generally derecognised when the contract that gives rise to it is settled, sold, cancelled or 
expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability, such that the difference in the respective carrying amounts together with any 
costs or fees incurred are recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its 
risks associated with foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations respectively.  Such derivative financial instruments are 
initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at 
fair value.  Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The effective portion in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge is recognised in 
other comprehensive income. Any gains or losses arising from the changes in fair value on derivatives that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting are taken directly to the income statement.  

When hedged cash flows result in the recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, the associated gains or losses previously 
recognised equity are included in the initial measurement of the asset or liability. For all other cash flow hedges, the gains or 
losses that are recognised in equity are transferred to the income statement in the same period in which the hedged cash 
flows affect the income statement.

The fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts with 
similar maturity profiles.

The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is determined by discounting future cash flows using current market interest 
rates and yield curve over the remaining term of the instrument.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity 
as a deduction from the share premium account.

Purchases of the Group’s own shares that are held as treasury shares are classified as equity and measured at cost.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that the group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is 
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, 
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the 
period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates may differ from the 
related actual results.  The key estimates and assumptions at the balance sheet date that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

a. Estimated impairment of goodwill and development costs 
The Group tests annually whether goodwill and development costs have suffered any impairment in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated.  The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-
in-use calculations.  These calculations require the use of estimates such as expected planning outcomes, future cash 
flows from the cash generating units and choosing an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the net present 
value of these cash flows. See note 17 for more detail.

b. Valuation of ROCs 
ROC intangible assets have been revalued at the period end based upon publically available market data and recent 
transactions. These provide the most accurate anticipated sale price.

c. Useful economic life of assets 
The estimation of the useful economic life of tangible fixed assets is based upon management’s judgement and may 
include the design life of the asset concerned, the running regime it will be subjected to and site specific criteria that 
may impact it.

d. Criteria for the capitalisation of development spend 
Initial capitalisation of development costs occurs following a specific review by the Board, ensuring the key planning, 
construction and financing risks have been mitigated to a level where the Board considers it probable that the site will 
deliver future economic benefits, that the site is technically feasible, resources are available and expenditure can be 
measured reliably.  

e. Fair values of assets and liabilities acquired 
Prior to a transaction the Board assess the fair values of assets and liabilities for a business combination using all 
information available. 

f. Valuation of derivative financial instruments 
External valuations are used to revalue derivative financial instruments. These valuations are updated at the year end 
and interim period. 
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5. Segment information

a. Business segments

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are 
regularly reviewed by the Board to allocate resources to the segment and to assess their performance. The Group continues 
to operate in two key reporting segments, being Wind energy generation and operations and Bio Power generation, the 
identification of the Group’s reportable segments has not been changed.

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, receivables and operating cash.  
Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities and borrowings. There are no unallocated liabilities.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, including additions resulting 
from acquisitions through business combinations.

Year ended 30 June 2013 Wind Bio Power Total

£000 £000 £000

Segment revenue – external sales 12,348 1,058 13,406

Operating profit / (loss) 1,019 (775) 244

Profit on disposals 9,116

Central administration costs (1,661)

Net finance expense (1,870)

Profit before taxation 5,829

Tax credit 685

Profit for the year 6,514

Adjusted EBITDA1 5,183 (469) 12,312
1 Adjusted earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) is equal to the Group’s continuing 
operating profit/(loss), including profit on disposal of subsidiaries, but before share based payments, interest, taxation, 
depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges.

Year ended 30 June 2013 Wind Bio Power Total

£000 £000 £000

Electricity generation 6,354 419 6,773

Renewable obligation certificates 5,173 295 5,468

Embedded benefits 535 80 615

TRIAD sales 100 - 100

Management fees 119 - 119

Other sales 67 264 331

12,348 1,058 13,406

Year ended 30 June 2013 Wind Bio Power Total

£000 £000 £000

Assets and liabilities

Segment assets 86,300 12,432 98,732

Segment liabilities (43,260) (202) (43,462)

43,040 12,230 55,270

Unallocated assets 16,503

Net assets 71,773

Other segmental information:

Capital expenditure:

Intangibles 7,190 - 7,190

Property, plant and equipment 15,920 82 16,002

Depreciation 3,224 307 3,531

Amortisation and impairments 965 - 965

Share based payments 46 16 120

Year ended 30 June 2012 Wind Bio Power Total

£000 £000 £000

Segment revenue – external sales 10,447 1,661 12,108

Segment result before exceptional costs 1,114 (565) 549

Exceptional administrative costs (note 9) (64) - (64)

Operating profit / (loss) 1,050 (565) 485

Central administration costs (1,691)

Finance expense (750)

Loss before taxation (1,956)

Tax credit 159

Loss for the year (1,797)

Adjusted EBITDA 4,557 (244) 2,709

Year ended 30 June 2012 Wind Bio Power Total

£000 £000 £000

Electricity generation 5,601 606 6,207

Renewable obligation certificates 4,219 215 4,434

Embedded benefits 471 12 483

TRIAD sales 156 62 218

Other sales - 766 766

10,447 1,661 12,108
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Year ended 30 June 2012 Wind Bio Power Total

£000 £000 £000

Assets and liabilities

Segment assets 87,555 8,588 96,143

Segment liabilities (40,997) (217) (41,214)

46,558 8,371 54,929

Unallocated assets 11,220

Net assets 66,149

Other segmental information:

Capital expenditure:

Intangibles 4,933 - 4,933

Property, plant and equipment 17,432 632 18,064

Depreciation 2,956 299 3,255

Amortisation and impairments 428 - 428

Share based payments 59 22 81

b. Geographical segments

For the year ended 30 June 2013 and 30 June 2012 all revenue was generated in the UK.

c. Information about major customers

Included in revenues arising from continuing operations are revenues of £10,573,000 (2012: £8,745,000) which arose from 
sales to the Group’s largest customer. These sales arose from within the wind energy operating segment.

Furthermore, revenues of £978,000 (2012: £1,546,000) arose from sales to the Group’s second largest customer.

6. Other operating income

2013 2012

£000 £000

Insurance claims - 125

 
7. Finance revenue

2013 2012

£000 £000

Bank interest receivable 125 41

Foreign exchange gains 45 -

170 41

 
8. Finance costs

2013 2012

£000 £000

Finance costs on bank loans (2,040) (791)

9. Exceptional administrative costs

2013 2012

£000 £000

Acquisition costs - (64)

Transaction costs connected to the acquisition of a controlling interest in REG Creagh JV Company Limited have been 
written off to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

10. Profit on continuing operations before taxation

2013 2012

£000 £000

Profit on continuing operations before taxation is stated after charging:

Amortisation and impairment of intangibles (965) (428)

Depreciation  - owned assets (3,531) (3,275)

Auditor’s remuneration - audit of the accounts (175) (165)

   - taxation services (90) (93)

   - other services (25) (11)

Operating lease rentals  - minimum lease payments (357) (357)

   - contingent rents (143) (145)

Auditor’s remuneration

The analysis of auditor’s remuneration is as follows: 2013 2012

£000 £000

Fees payable to the company’s auditor for the audit of the company’s annual 
accounts

 
28

 
25

Fees payable to the company’s auditor and their associates for other services 
to the group

- The audit of the company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation

 
 
 

147

 
 
 

140

Total audit fees 175 165

- Corporate tax services 50 46

- Tax advisory services 40 47

- Transaction services 25 -

- Environmental audit - 11

Total non-audit fees 115 104
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11. Staff costs and directors’ emoluments

2013 2012

£000 £000

Staff costs

Wages and salaries 3,170 2,857

Social security costs 411 338

Pension contributions 331 194

Other staff costs 48 63

Share based payments 120 148

4,080 3,600

Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ emoluments 848 769

The average monthly number of employees during the year was made up as follows:

Directors 7 7

Operations and construction 15 13

Development 13 12

Administration and finance 13 11

48 43

Full details of Directors’ emoluments and share options are given within the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

12. Taxation

a. Tax on profit/loss on ordinary activities

Total

2013 2012

£000 £000

Corporation tax:

      Current year (5) -

      Prior year adjustments 5 30

Total current income tax - 30

Deferred taxation:

      Current year (751) 29

      Prior period adjustment 66 (218)

(685) (159)

b. Reconciliation of total tax credit

The tax on the Group’s profit/loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise under the weighted average 
tax rate applicable to results of the consolidated companies of 28.3% (2012: 18.4%) as follows:

2013 2012

£000 £000

Profit/(loss) before taxation 5,829 (1,956)

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits of the respective countries 1,649 (360)

Effects of:  

- Deferred tax movement on fixed assets not recognised 79 72

- Losses carried forward on which deferred tax is not recognised - 83

- Non-taxable income (2,530) -

- Prior year adjustments to current tax 5 30

- Prior year adjustments to deferred tax 66 (218)

- Impact of change in enacted tax rate 24 36

- Expenses not deductible 22 198

Tax credit for the year (685) (159)

The weighted average tax rate is based on the following tax rates: UK 23.75% (2012: 25.5%); Jersey 0% (2012: 0%).

In addition to the amount charged to the income statement, the following amounts relating to tax have been recognised in 
other comprehensive income:

Total

2013 2012

£000 £000

Deferred tax:

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Cash flow hedges: 340 (677)

Unrecognised tax losses

The Group has accumulated a deferred tax asset on tax losses of £345,000 (2012: £345,000) and a deferred tax asset on 
depreciation in excess of capital allowances of £261,000 (2012: £182,000) which have not been recognised. These deferred 
tax assets relate to the Bio-Power segment and have not been recognised in respect of these as profits have yet to be 
declared in the entities in which the losses are held to suggest that a tax benefit will be realised in the foreseeable future.

13. Dividends per share

2013 2012

Declared and paid during the period £000 £000

Equity dividends on ordinary shares

Final paid for 2012 of 1.5p (2011 – 1.5p) per ordinary share 1,549 1,549

Interim Dividend for 2013 paid of 0.5p (2012 – 0.5p) per ordinary share 516 516

2,065 2,065

A final dividend of 1.5p per ordinary share, amounting to £1,551,811 was proposed by the Directors at their meeting on 15 
October 2013.  The proposed dividend has not been recognised as a liability as at 30 June 2013.
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14. Profit/(loss) per share (E/LPS)

The calculations of earnings/(loss) per share are based on the following results and numbers of shares:

2013 2012

£000 £000

Profit/(loss) for the financial year 6,514 (1,797)

2013 2012

Number of shares Number of Shares

Weighted average number of shares:

For basic profit/loss per share 103,305,638 103,255,251

Dilutive share options 1,665,921 -

Dilutive contingent consideration 150,376 218,579

For diluted loss per share 105,121,935 103,473,830

Basic earnings or loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings or loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to 
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.  The Company has two categories of dilutive potential ordinary 
shares: options and contingent consideration.

15. Assets / (liabilities) classified as held for sale

Assets held for sale relate to the Group’s strategy to manage its capital structure with a balance of equity, debt and the 
recycling of equity through strategic asset sales. The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the operations 
classified as held for sale are as follows:

2013

£000

Property, plant & equipment 18,147

Trade and other receivables 1,432

Intangibles 738

Restricted cash 1,017

Cash and bank balances 1,474

Total assets held for sale 22,808

Trade and other payables 717

Provisions 365

Tax liabilities 230

Derivative financial instruments 501

Bank overdrafts and loans 14,168

Total liabilities associated with assets held for sale 15,981

Net assets of disposal group 6,827

During the year the board resolved to dispose of REG Goonhilly Limited and REG Orchard End Limited, being a 12MW and 
4MW wind farm respectively. REG Goonhilly was disposed subsequent to the balance sheet date (see note 36) and REG 
Orchard End Ltd is expected to be sold within 12 months. These subsidiaries have been classified as a disposal group held 
for sale and presented separately in the balance sheet. The proceeds of disposal are expected to substantially exceed the 
book value of the related net assets and accordingly no impairment losses have been recognised on the classification of 
these subsidiaries as held for sale.

During the year a provision of £365,000 was made in respect of potential construction claims and is included within assets 
and liabilities classified as held for sale.  An amount of £325,000 is recognised in Trade and other receivables being the 
expected insurance reimbursement and counter claims against the provision. A further insurance receivable of £145,000 is 
recognised in Trade and other receivables being the expected insurance reimbursement of costs incurred at the Balance 
Sheet date. The claims, counter claims and reimbursements are expected to be resolved during the financial year ending 30 
June 2014.

In addition to the claims above, the Board considers there is a contingent liability in respect of a further construction incident.  
No claim has been received, and no provision has been made in these financial statements as the Group’s management do 
not consider that there is any probable loss. It is not practicable to provide a reliable estimate of the contingent liabilities.
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16. Intangible assets

Development costs Goodwill Total

£000 £000 £000

Cost

At 1 July 2011 5,583 7,390 12,973

Acquisition of subsidiary 1,650 - 1,650

Additions 3,283 - 3,283

Transfer to tangible assets (2,046) - (2,046)

At 30 June 2012 8,470 7,390 15,860

Acquisition of subsidiary (see note 33) 1,110 - 1,110

Additions 6,080 - 6,080

At 30 June 2013 15,660 7,390 23,050

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 July 2011 574 - 574

Amortisation charge 30 - 30

Transfer to tangible assets (214) - (214)

Impairment charge 398 - 398

At 30 June 2012 788 - 788

Impairment charge 965 - 965

At 30 June 2013 1,753 - 1,753

Net book values

At 30 June 2013 13,907 7,390 21,297

At 30 June 2012 7,682 7,390 15,072

At 1 July 2011 5,009 7,390 12,399

Included within additions is £387,000 (2012: £244,000) of internally generated intangible assets relating to staff costs directly 
attributable to projects.

Impairment charges during the year relate to projects considered currently below the group’s economic hurdle rate, or 
impaired due to unforeseen occurrences outside the Group’s control

17. Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use

Goodwill acquired through business combinations, development costs and other intangibles not yet available for use have 
been allocated for impairment testing purposes to two categories of cash-generating units as follows:

• UK based wind farms operated through REG Windpower Limited and other subsidiaries.

• UK based waste vegetable oil to power generation through the REG Bio-Power UK Limited sub group that comprises, 
Living Power Limited and Living Fuels Limited.

These represent the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. 
Disclosures have been combined for the Wind CGU’s on the basis that the underlying assumptions are consistent.

Carrying amount of goodwill, development costs and other intangibles not yet available for use allocated to cash-generating units:

Wind Bio-Power Total

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Development costs 13,698 7,538 209 144 13,907 7,682

Goodwill 5,510 5,510 1,880 1,880 7,390 7,390

19,208 13,048 2,089 2,024 21,297 15,072

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations

Wind

The recoverable amount of the UK wind farms unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow 
projections based on financial budgets covering a 25 year period, being a 5 year timeframe to develop and build the projects 
in addition to the expected 20 year operational lives of the wind turbines.  No terminal values have been applied at the end of 
the 20 year operations cycle.

CGUs for UK wind farms are considered to be individual sites, and they are tested as such. However, they are disclosed in 
aggregate as the assumptions within the value-in-use calculations are similar.

All projects are assumed to be contracted on Power Purchase Agreements with prices based on independent pricing 
forecasts for the UK power market.  ROC prices are estimated using current market information to evaluate the likely ROC 
recycle price on top of the ROC buyout prices.  All operational and maintenance costs in the projects are fully index linked.

The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 9% (2012: 9 to 10%) and cash flows are extrapolated using a 2.5% rate 
of inflation (2012:  2.5%).

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

The calculation of value in use for wind farms is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

Discount rates discount rates reflect the weighted average cost of capital of the group adjusted for appropriate 
risk.

Power prices prices are based on current market data, or current contracted power purchase agreements where 
applicable.

Wind resource estimates are made from various independent sources, along with site data where applicable to 
estimate the level of wind resource at each project.

Capital costs turbines and balance of plant costs are based on historic data assimilated by the Group and known 
industry averages.  These costs are themselves dependent on variables such as commodity prices 
and exchange rates.

Right and ability to 
construct 

the UK wind farm portfolio is subject to successful planning permission.  The Board reviews the 
portfolio on a regular basis to ensure that projects will meet the various requirements to succeed 
through the UK planning process.  The Board also monitor the sites to ensure they are viable to 
build in terms of a firm grid connection and ensuring they meet the various environmental standards 
expected of them.

With regards to the assessment of value in use of the UK Wind farms, management believes that no reasonably possible 
changes in any of the above key assumptions would cause the carrying value of the units to materially exceed their 
recoverable amounts.
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Bio-Power

The recoverable amount of the Bio-Power Group is also determined on a value in use basis using cash flow projections 
based on financial budgets covering a 20 year period being the assumed life cycle of the generating equipment. The 
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 9% (2012: 12%) reflecting the group’s approximate cost of capital and 
cash flows are extrapolated using a 2.5% rate of inflation (2012 : 2.5%).

Future project capital costs estimates are based on capital costs already incurred by the Group.  

All projects are assumed to be contracted on Power Purchase Agreements with prices based on independent pricing 
forecasts for the UK power market.  ROC prices are estimated using current market information to evaluate the likely ROC 
recycle price on top of the ROC buyout prices. Combined Heat and Power projects earn ROCs at 2 ROCs per MWh.  Fuel 
costs are based on a mix of vegetable oils from varying sources that cover those traded on the open market to smaller 
distribution channels.  All operational and maintenance costs in the projects are fully index linked.

The calculation of value in use for the vegetable oil to power generation is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

Discount rates discount rates reflect the weighted average cost of capital of the group adjusted for appropriate 
risk.

Power prices prices are based on current market data, or current contracted power purchase agreements where 
applicable.

Average fuel prices prices are based on known open market prices and estimates, along with known negotiated prices 
for certain fuels.

Short term operating 
reserve (“STOR”) 
utilisation

the number of hours which the Group is required to generate power under the contract in place 
with the National Grid.

Discount rates reflect management’s estimate of return on capital employed (ROCE) required in each business. This is the 
benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate future capital investment proposals.

For the vegetable oil to power unit, management has considered the following sensitivities of note:

Fuel costs management has considered the possibility of higher than budgeted costs of oil from our network 
of sites and collection contracts.  The value in use calculation considers a costs level in line with the 
current mix of collections.  As a result of continued investment in collection depots, management is 
confident that this forecast is achievable but a change in the mix of collections and costs resulting 
in an increase in the weighted average cost of collection of 65% (2012 - 25%)would reduce the 
value in use calculation to a value equal to the carrying amount.

STOR utilisation MWh’s generated under STOR operation provide a premium revenue stream from the Bio-Power 
Group. As this is a new venture for the Group, historical data is limited and based on information 
from National Grid. The Value in Use model includes assumption which are below the current rate. 
However, should utilisation fall 45% (2012 -35%) below the assumption the Value in Use would 
equal the carrying amount.

18. Property, plant and equipment

Operating 
wind sites

Other 
generation 

plant

Assets in the 
course of 

construction

Freehold land Fixtures, 
fittings and 
equipment

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost

At 1 July 2011 48,252 4,582 455 1,252 1,401 55,942

Additions 153 148 17,512 - 259 18,072

Transfers from intangibles 1,221 - 825 - - 2,046

Transfers 11,694 936 (12,630) - - -

Disposals - - - - (2) (2)

At 30 June 2012 61,320 5,666 6,162 1,252 1,658 76,058

Additions 1,520 82 13,656 - 616 15,874

Transfers 19,818 - (19,818) - - -

Assets held for sale (20,046) - - - - (20,046)

Disposals (19,998) - - - - (19,998)

At 30 June 2013 42,614 5,748 - 1,252 2,274 51,888

Depreciation

At 1 July 2011 4,688 360 - - 316 5,364

Depreciation charge 2,794 267 - - 214 3,275

Transfer from intangibles 214 - - - - 214

At 30 June 2012 7,696 627 - - 530 8,853

Depreciation charge 2,973 272 - - 286 3,531

Assets held for sale (1,899) - - - - (1,899)

Disposals (173) - - - - (173)

At 30 June 2013 8,597 899 - - 816 10,312

Net book value

At 30 June 2013 34,017 4,849 - 1,252 1,458 41,576

At 30 June 2012 53,624 5,039 6,162 1,252 1,128 67,205

At 1 July 2011 43,564 4,222 455 1,252 1,085 50,578

During the year £466,000 (2012: £860,000) of borrowing costs were capitalised into property, plant and equipment. The cost 
of borrowing used is 5.7%.

19. Inventories

2013 2012

£000 £000

Fuel 419 242
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20. Trade and other receivables

2013 2012

£000 £000

Trade receivables 909 487

VAT 1,045 1,182

Corporation tax - 16

Other receivables 992 204

Prepayments and accrued income 1,413 2,506

4,359 4,395

Accrued income of £502,000 (2012: £921,000) represents LECs, TRIADs and generation not yet billed.

21. Current intangibles

£000

Net book value

At 1 July 2011 2,278

Adjustments in respect of ROCs generated in prior years (122)

ROCs generated through operating activities at fair value 4,556

ROCs sold (4,350)

At 30 June 2012 2,362

Adjustments in respect of ROCs generated in prior years (38)

ROCs generated through operating activities at fair value 5,506

ROCs sold (4,854)

At 30 June 2013 2,976

Classified as assets held for sale 738

ROCs sold include certificates received as a result of electricity generated in prior periods.

22. Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

2013 2012

£000 £000

Restricted cash amounts in relation to project finance 3,574 4,507

Restricted cash amounts in relation to letters of credit 4,655 4,075

Total restricted cash 8,229 8,582

Cash at bank and in hand 16,059 9,566

24,288 18,148

Restricted cash amounts comprise of cash balances held with the banks that are not available to the Group.  The funds are 
used to provide collateral against future debt service costs and scheduled operating costs as part of the Group’s finance 
facilities. Cash backed letters of credit for the settlement of purchases of tangible fixed assets are also classified as restricted 
cash.

23. Trade and other payables

2013 2012

£000 £000

Trade payables 4,976 1,400

Deferred consideration 1,430 1,850

Other payables 686 56

Accruals 3,821 1,643

10,913 4,949

Deferred consideration consists of the following amounts relating to the acquisition of wind farms:

2013 2012

£000 £000

St. Breock wind farm - 1,200

REG Creagh JV Limited 650 650

Little Waver Wind Farm 480 -

Highfield Wind Energy Limited 300 -

1,430 1,850

 
24. Borrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group interest bearing loans and borrowings. For more 
information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate and liquidity risk, see note 25.

Maturity 2013 2012

£000 £000

Variable rate term loans 19,696 36,283

Issue costs (987) (1,790)

18,709 34,493

Bank loans comprise the following:

Variable rate term loans 30 June 2023 9,924 10,541

30 September 2026 8,785 23,952

18,709 34,493

Less current instalments due on bank loans (860) (1,356)

17,849 33,137

The loans of £9,924,000 and £8,785,000 are secured against 13.9MW and 8.5MW of wind farm assets respectively, held in 
subsidiary entities, and are non-recourse to the wider group. The bank loans carry interest at 2.5% and 2.75% respectively 
above 3 month LIBOR. The Group hedges the full amount of the loans for interest rate risk using a series of interest rate 
swaps.
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25. Derivatives and other financial instruments

An explanation of the Group’s financial instruments risk management objectives, policies and strategies is set out in the 
Directors’ Report. At the year end the Group held the following financial instruments to hedge against the interest rate risk of 
the variable rate term loans disclosed in note 24.

The fair values and notional amounts of financial instruments used in hedging, analysed by type are as follows:

2013 2012

Notional value Fair value Notional value Fair value

£000 £000 £000 £000

Fair value through income statement

Foreign currency forward contracts 5,132 47 - -

Cash flow hedges

Interest rate swaps 34,747 (1,695) 36,283 (2,661)

Foreign currency balances 3,872 229 4,075 (161)

43,751 (1,419) 40,358 (2,822)

Less classified as held for sale (15,051) 501 - -

28,700 (918) 40,358 (2,822)

Foreign currency risk

At the balance sheet date the Group had foreign currency commitments of €4,528,000 which were fully hedged. As a result 
the income statement is not at risk from fluctuations between the €:£ exchange rate.

Euro denominated Letters of Credit, which are used as cash flow hedges against committed expenditure are expected to 
unwind within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Interest rate risk

During the year the Group continued to purchase interest rate swaps to fully hedge against the variable rate loans detailed in 
note 24. As a result the Group is not subject to any significant interest rate risks. 

Interest rate swap Principal

Reference Term Rate 2013 2012

% £000 £000

Interest rate swap no. 1 30 June 2023 3.5350 2,258 2,421

Interest rate swap no. 2 30 June 2023 3.5350 2,878 3,081

Interest rate swap no. 3 30 June 2023 3.5500 2,135 2,270

Interest rate swap no. 4 30 June 2023 3.5375 1,548 1,657

Interest rate swap no. 5 30 June 2023 3.5325 1,731 1,854

Interest rate swap no. 6 30 September 2026 2.7675 15,051 15,647

Interest rate swap no. 7 30 September 2026 2.7750 4,766 4,482

Interest rate swap no. 8 30 September 2026 2.8000 4,380 4,871

34,747 36,283

Classified as available for sale 30 September 2026 2.7675 (15,051) -

19,696 36,283

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the fair value of interest rate swaps to a reasonably possible change in the 
3 month Libor rate for both derivative and non derivative instruments during the year with all other variables held constant on 
the Group’s other comprehensive income.

2013 2012

£000 £000

Increase in 3 month LIBOR by 1% 2,254 2,179

Decrease in 3 month LIBOR by 1% 2,463 2,179

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties, who are generally blue chip energy corporates.  UK 
electricity generation is predominantly sold under short term power purchase agreements to two customers.  Renewable 
Obligation Certificates are sold on the open market with little or no credit risk involved in the transactions.  Receivable 
balances are monitored on an on-going basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.  

As at 30 June 2013, there were £nil of financial assets (2012: £nil) that were considered to be impaired due to the financial 
status of the debtor.  As at 30 June the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:-

Total     Current 30-60 days 61-90 days 90-120 days > 120 days

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

30 June 2013

Trade receivables 909 511 36 67 295 -

Accrued income 502 257 33 35 28 149

ROCs 2,238 199 279 342 299 1,119

3,649 967 348 444 622 1,268

30 June 2012

Trade receivables 487 342 54 68 23 -

Accrued income 921 494 48 40 43 296

ROCs 2,362 452 281 387 302 940

3,770 1,288 383 495 368 1,236

ROCs and accrued income are aged based on the date the energy was generated. This results in financial assets being 
disclosed as significantly aged but not considered to be impaired, due to the statutory mechanisms within the ROC market. 
Other balances have been reviewed and the Board are satisfied no impairment due to credit risk is necessary.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, 
the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying 
amount of these instruments.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance of continuity of funding for capital expansion using project financing, with 
operating cash flows funding working capital.  

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 30 June 2013 based on contractual 
undiscounted payments.

 Carrying 
value     

Less than 3 
months

3 to 12 
months

1 to 5 years More than 
5 years

Total  
contractual 

payments

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

30 June 2013

Interest bearing loans 18,709 309 1,829 11,731 13,767 27,636

Trade and other payables 10,913 9,083 1,050 780 - 10,913

29,622 9,392 2,879 12,511 13,767 38,549

30 June 2012

Interest bearing loans 34,493 987 2,547 18,820 29,492 51,846

Trade and other payables 4,949 4,949 - - - 4,949

39,442 5,936 2,527 18,820 29,492 56,795

Cash flows relating to variable rate debt and interest rate swaps have been combined on the basis they are fully hedged.
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Capital management

Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent.  The primary objective of the Group’s capital 
management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business 
and maximise shareholder return.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. No 
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years end 30 June 2013 and 30 June 2012.

The Group monitors capital management by using detailed financial information provided to key management personnel.  
The Group has complied with all externally imposed banking covenants on its loans during the current and preceding years.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 

2013 2012 2013 2012

Book value Book value Fair value Fair value

£000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets

Cash and bank balances (including cash and 
bank balances in a disposal group held for sale)

17,533 9,566 17,533 9,566

Restricted cash 8,229 8,582 8,229 8,582

Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)

      Designated as FVTPL 47 - 47 -

Trade and other receivables 4,640 4,011 4,640 4,011

30,449 22,159 30,449 22,159

Financial liabilities

Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)

      Designated as FVTPL - - 22 528

Derivatives in designated hedge accounting 
relationships

1,196 2,661 1,196 2,661

Other 10,913 4,949 10,913 4,949

Amortised cost 18,709 34,493 18,709 34,493

30,818 42,103 30,840 42,631

The fair value of borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates.  
The fair value of the derivative financial instruments are estimated by discounting future cash flows using current market 
interest rates and yield curve over the remaining term of the instrument. The fair value of the power purchase agreements 
is the difference between the attainable market rate for electricity and the rate as agreed within the power purchase 
agreements, assuming P50 forecasts are met.

Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair 
value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities;

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly and;

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability 
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

30 June 2013

Renewable obligation certificates - 2,238 - 2,238

Forward currency contracts 47 - - 47

Interest rate swaps - 1,196 - 1,196

47 3,434 - 3,481

30 June 2012

Renewable obligation certificates - 2,362 - 2,362

Interest rate swaps - 2,661 - 2,661

- 5,023 - 5,023
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26. Deferred tax (assets) / liabilities

2013 2012

£000 £000

At 1 July (828) 38

Current year income statement charge / (credit) (751) 29

Income statement prior period adjustment 66 (218)

Eliminated on disposal (137) -

Credit to equity 340 (677)

At 30 June (1,310) (828)

Deferred tax is provided as follows:

2013 2012

£000 £000

Short term timing differences (403) (151)

Losses carried forward (567) -

Fair value losses on financial instruments (340) (677)

At 30 June (1,310) (828)

Reflected in the balance sheet as follows:

2013 2012

£000 £000

Deferred tax asset (1,664) (941)

Deferred tax liability 124 113

(1,540) (828)

Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 230 -

(1,310) (828)

The deferred tax included in the Group income statement is as follows:

2013 2012

£000 £000

Short term timing differences (136) (189)

Losses carried forward (549) -

(685) (189)

Temporary differences associated with Group investments

At 30 June 2013, there was no recognised deferred tax liability (2012: £nil) for taxes that would be payable on the unremitted 
earnings of certain of the Group’s subsidiaries, as the Group has determined that undistributed profits of its subsidiaries will 
not be distributed in the foreseeable future and the Group is registered in Jersey.

27. Share capital

2013 2012

£000 £000

Authorised

103,454,038 (2012: 103,301,014) Ordinary shares of 10p each 10,345 10,330

Issued and fully paid

103,454,038 (2012: 103,301,014) Ordinary shares of 10p each 10,345 10,330

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.

On 20 June 2013 the company issued 153,024 Ordinary shares of 10p each as partial consideration for a 100% interest in 
the share capital of Highfield Wind Energy Limited.

28. Share Premium Account

2013 2012

£000 £000

At 1 July 79,707 79,707

Premium arising on issue of equity shares 85 -

At 30 June 79,792 79,707

 

29. Own shares

2013 2012

£000 £000

At 1 July - -

Acquired in the period (60) -

Balance at 31 December (60) -

The own shares reserve represents the cost of shares in Renewable Energy Generation Limited purchased in the market and 
held by the Group to satisfy options under the group’s share option schemes.  The number of Ordinary shares of 10p each 
held at 30 June 2013 was 100,000 (2012 – nil).
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30. Share based payments

2013 2012

£000 £000

Share based payments reserve

At 1 July 1,311 1,179

Charged to the income statement 120 148

Transfer to retained earnings (1,093) (16)

At 30 June 338 1,311

The Group operates three share based payments schemes;

a. ESOP I 
ESOP I is an equity settled share based payment scheme.  Options can only be exercised if certain Performance 
Conditions are satisfied (see note 3).  The Performance Conditions are measured once only at the end of the Performance 
Period, which commences on the date of grant of the Options and ends on the third anniversary of that date. 
 
ESOP I was closed to new entrants and further awards during the year, being replaced by ESOP II, a new approved 
employee share options scheme, with differing terms and conditions.

b. ESOP II 
ESOP II is a new equity settled share based payment scheme.  Options can only be exercised if certain Performance 
Conditions are satisfied (see note 3).  The Performance Conditions are measured once only at the end of the 
Performance Period, which commences on the date of grant of the Options and ends on the third anniversary of that 
date.

c. LTIP 
The LTIP is a new equity settled share based payment scheme with awards being based on a percentage of the 
participant’s base annual salary at the date the recommendation is made.  The scheme is open to the Executive 
Directors and certain key senior executives of the Company.  Awards will give participants a right to receive up to a 
specified maximum number of shares in the Company at the end of a vesting period of three years and subject to 
achievement of certain performance conditions (see note 3).  The awards are made in the form of options to acquire 
shares for nil consideration.

The fair value of the granted options is reported as an administrative expense with a corresponding increase in shareholders’ 
equity. Fair value is calculated at the grant date and allocated over the period during which the benefit is earned. The 
estimate of the level of vesting is reviewed at least annually, with any impact on the cumulative charge being recognised 
immediately.  The charge is based on the market value of the award as at the date of grant.

2013 2012

Scheme

Weighted 
Average exercise 

price 

Outstanding 
warrants 

and options

Weighted 
Average exercise 

price 

Outstanding 
warrants 

and options

£ £

Outstanding at 1 July 0.6000 4,040,082 0.6840 2,619,165

Granted ESOP I - - 0.4525 1,501,750

Granted ESOP II 0.7100 415,500 - -

Granted LTIP - 933,990 - -

Retired ESOP I (0.6329) (228,500) (0.5725) (30,833)

Retired ESOP I - - (0.6550) (50,000)

Outstanding at 30 June 0.4983 5,161,072 0.6000 4,040,082

Exercisable at 30 June 0.8459 1,071,332 0.9590 558,332

During the year to 30 June 2013 the following share options were granted to directors and staff under the Group’s share 
based payment schemes;

i. 415,500 share options with an exercise price of 71.00p exercisable between 11 February 2016 and 11 February 2023, 
under the ESOP II.

ii. 933,990 share options with an exercise price of £nil, exercisable between 11 February 2016 and 11 February 2023, 
under the LTIP.

The fair value of options granted during the period and the prior period, determined using the Binomial model and the 
significant inputs into the model were as follows:

Fair Value Share price at 
grant date

Exercise 
price

Volatility Risk free rate Expected 
option life

2013

415,500 options 7.467p 71.00p 71.00p 18.24% 1.95% 36 months

933,990 options 16.312p 71.00p - 18.24% 1.95% 36 months

2012

1,501,750 options 5.133p 45.25p 45.25p 17.83% 2.56% 36 months

For the share options outstanding as at 30 June 2013, the weighted average remaining contractual life is 7.86 years (2012 – 
8.26 years).

Expected share price volatility was calculated based on actual historical price movements.

Options outstanding at the year end had the following exercise prices:

2013 2012

Scheme Exercise price Outstanding 
warrants 

and options 

Exercise price Outstanding 
warrants 

and options

£ £

Options issued at 114p ESOP I 1.140 454,165 1.140 454,165

Options issued at 57.25 ESOP I 0.572 104,167 0.572 104,167

Options issued at 65.50p ESOP I 0.655 462,000 0.655 660,000

Options issued at 54.50p ESOP I 0.545 21,000 0.545 30,000

Options issued at 49.50p ESOP I 0.495 205,000 0.495 205,000

Options issued at 56.63p ESOP I 0.566 1,082,500 0.566 1,085,000

Options issued at 45.25p ESOP I 0.453 1,482,750 0.453 1,501,750

Options issued at 71.00p ESOP II 0.710 415,500 - -

Options issued at nil LTIP - 933,990 - -

5,161,072 4,040,082
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31. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities

2013 2012

£000 £000

Profit/(loss) before taxation from continuing activities 5,829 (1,956)

Adjustments for:

Net finance costs 1,915 750

Foreign exchange gains (47) -

Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment 3,531 3,275

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 965 428

Gain on disposal of subsidiary (9,116) -

Share based payments 120 148

Changes in working capital:

Inventories (177) (89)

Movements in current intangibles (1,123) (85)

Trade and other receivables (691) (1,227)

Trade and other payables 2,423 (757)

Corporation tax receivable 36 185

3,665 671

 
32. Financial commitments

Capital commitments

As at the year end there were capital commitments amounting to £nil (2012: £4,075,000) relating to the purchase of wind 
turbines. Funding for these commitments is held within restricted cash disclosed in note 22.

Operating lease commitments

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain properties.  These leases have an average duration of between 5 
and 25 years.  Some of the property lease agreements contain an option for renewal, with such options being exercisable 
before the expiry of the lease term at rentals based on market prices at the time of exercise.  Various property lease 
agreements include contingent rental payments that are based on either the output of the associated wind farm or its 
revenue.  There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases. 

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2013 2012

£000 £000

Not later than one year 427 163

After one  year but not more than five years 1,243 204

After five years 4,872 7,167

6,542 7,534

33. Acquisition of subsidiary

On 18 June 2013 the Group acquired the entire ordinary share capital of Highfield Wind Energy Limited for initial 
consideration of £325,000. Part of the consideration relates to the assignment of a development loan of £306,000 to REG 
Holdings Limited with the remaining consideration of £19,000 being attributable to the share capital of the company. At the 
time of acquisition the primary asset of the company was an intangible development asset relating to the future application 
for a 10MW wind farm. On receipt of an acceptable planning consent a further £300,000 consideration shall be payable. The 
deferred consideration has been treated as a financial liability.

Book value Provisional Fair value

£000 £000

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired

Total identifiable intangible assets 306 625

Goodwill - -

Total fair value 625

Satisfied by

Cash paid 225

Shares issued 100

Deferred consideration 300

Total purchase consideration paid by Group 625

In addition a further £485,000 deferred consideration was recognised during the year in respect of the purchase of Little 
Waver Wind Farm Limited during the prior year.
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34. Disposal of subsidiary

On 23 January 2013 the Group entered into a sale agreement to dispose of REG Tranche 3 Holdings Limited and its 
subsidiary companies REG Sancton Hill Limited and REG South Sharpley Limited. The disposal was effected in order to 
recycle capital into the build out of the Group’s significant development pipeline.

The disposal was completed on 23 January on which date control passed to the acquirer.

The results of the disposal group, which have been included in the consolidated income statement, were as follows:

Period ended January 
2013

£000

Revenue 1,493

Cost of sales (545)

Profit before tax 948

Interest (211)

Profit before interest and tax 737

Attributable tax expense (106)

Profit after interest and tax 631

A gain of £9.1m arose on the disposal being the proceeds of disposal less the carrying amount of the disposal group’s net 
assets and costs to sell.

£000

Proceeds 31,829

Assignment of project debt (15,029)

Cash included in disposal group (2,196)

Fees (1,225)

Net proceeds 13,379

Net assets of disposal group (4,263)

Profit on disposal 9,116

Proceeds include deferred consideration of £650,000 currently included in Trade and other receivables.

35. Related party transactions

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Renewable Energy Generation Limited and the 
primary subsidiaries listed in the following table:

Name of Company Holding Country of incorporation Nature of Business

REG Holdings Ltd Ordinary shares UK Holding company

REG Windpower Ltd* Ordinary shares UK Wind farms

REG Bio-Power UK Ltd* Ordinary shares UK Holding company

Living Fuels Ltd*  Ordinary shares UK Recycling used cooking oil

Living Power Ltd* Ordinary shares UK Vegetable oil to power

REG High Pow Ltd* Ordinary shares UK Wind farms

REG Ramsey Ltd* Ordinary shares UK Wind farms

REG Braich Ddu Ltd* Ordinary shares UK Wind farms

REG High Sharpley Ltd* Ordinary shares UK Wind farms

REG Roskrow Barton Ltd* Ordinary shares UK Wind farms

REG Orchard End Ltd* Ordinary shares UK Wind farms

REG Goonhilly Ltd* Ordinary shares UK Wind farms

REG High Haswell Ltd* Ordinary shares UK Wind farms

REG Loscar Ltd* Ordinary shares UK Wind farms

REG Burnthouse Farm Ltd* Ordinary shares UK Wind farms

* Held by a subsidiary undertaking

Renewable Energy Generation Limited is the ultimate parent entity. All subsidiaries are wholly owned, with the exception of 
REG Creagh JV Limited and Brackagh Quarry Windfarm Limited where the Group holds an interest in 67% of the voting 
stock.

The Group has incurred consultancy fees, management fees and expenses with certain related parties as follows:

Amounts charged to the income 
statement

Amounts payable at the year end

2013 2012 2013 2012

£000 £000 £000 £000

JTC (Jersey) Limited 1 69 117 - 18

1 N Le Quesne, a director of Renewable Energy Generation Limited with significant voting rights in the JTC Group.

The remuneration of the directors, who are the key management personnel of the company, is set out below in aggregate for 
each of the relevant categories specified in IAS24 Related Party Disclosures.

2013 2012

£000 £000

Short-term employee benefits 890 805

Post employment benefits 43 42

Share based payments 56 55

989 902
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36. Post balance sheet events

On 31 July 2013 it was announced that the Group had completed the long term project financing of its 4MW Orchard End wind 
farm in Lancashire.  The 10 year project financing for £4.2m was provided by the Co-operative Bank at an all in rate of 6.075%.

On 5 August 2013, the Company issued and allotted 150,376 ordinary shares of 10p each as vendor consideration in 
connection with the payment of deferred consideration for Brackagh Quarry Wind Farm Limited.

On 9 September 2013 it was announced that the Group had sold its 12MW operational wind farm at Goonhilly Downs in 
Cornwall for a total consideration of £25.1m. Under the agreement, the acquirer assumed project debt of £14.5m and the 
Group received net cash proceeds of £10.6m.
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